
 

 
Enquiries specific to 
Entertainment Licensing: 
 
Matthew Nelson 
Tel No: 0113 37 85337 
 

 
 

 
Agenda compiled by: 
Governance and Scrutiny 
Support 
Civic Hall 
LEEDS LS1 1UR 
Tel No: 0113 37 88662 
 

  Produced on Recycled Paper 

A 

 

 

 

LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

 
MEETING TO BE HELD REMOTELY (VIA ZOOM) ON 

 
TUESDAY, 16TH FEBRUARY, 2021 AT 10.00 AM 

 
 

 
MEMBERSHIP 

 
Councillors 

 
  

 
B Flynn  - Adel & Wharfedale 

 
A Wenham - Roundhay 

 
A Garthwaite -  Headingley & Hyde Park 

 
 
 
 
 Note to observers of the meeting: To remotely observe this meeting, please click on the  
‘View the Meeting Recording’ link which will feature on the meeting’s webpage (linked below) 
ahead of the meeting. The webcast will become available at the commencement of the 
meeting. 
 
 

https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=430&MId=10162&Ver=4 

Public Document Pack

https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=430&MId=10162&Ver=4


 

B 
 

CONFIDENTIAL AND EXEMPT ITEMS 
 

The reason for confidentiality or exemption is stated on the agenda and on each of the reports in 
terms of Access to Information Procedure Rules 9.2 or 10.4(1) to (7). The number or numbers 
stated in the agenda and reports correspond to the reasons for exemption / confidentiality below: 
 
9.0  Confidential information – requirement to exclude public access 
9.1 The public must be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view of the nature of 

the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that confidential 
information would be disclosed. Likewise, public access to reports, background papers, 
and minutes will also be excluded. 

 

9.2 Confidential information means 
(a)  information given to the Council by a Government Department on terms which 

forbid its public disclosure or  
(b)  information the disclosure of which to the public is prohibited by or under another 

Act or by Court Order. Generally personal information which identifies an 
individual, must not be disclosed under the data protection and human rights 
rules.  

 

10.0 Exempt information – discretion to exclude public access 
10. 1 The public may be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view of the nature of 

the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that exempt information 
would be disclosed provided: 
(a) the meeting resolves so to exclude the public, and that resolution identifies the 

proceedings or part of the proceedings to which it applies, and 
(b) that resolution states by reference to the descriptions in Schedule 12A to the 

Local Government Act 1972 (paragraph 10.4 below) the description of the 
exempt information giving rise to the exclusion of the public. 

(c) that resolution states, by reference to reasons given in a relevant report or 
otherwise, in all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in maintaining 
the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.  

 

10.2 In these circumstances, public access to reports, background papers and minutes will 
also be excluded.  

 
10.3 Where the meeting will determine any person’s civil rights or obligations, or adversely 

affect their possessions, Article 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998 establishes a 
presumption that the meeting will be held in public unless a private hearing is necessary 
for one of the reasons specified in Article 6. 

 
10. 4 Exempt information means information falling within the following categories (subject to 

any condition): 
1 Information relating to any individual 
2 Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual. 
3  Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 

(including the authority holding that information). 
4 Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated 

consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations matter arising 
between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or officer-
holders under the authority. 

5 Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be 
maintained in legal proceedings. 

6 Information which reveals that the authority proposes – 
(a)  to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which 

requirements are imposed on a person; or 
(b)  to make an order or direction under any enactment 

7 Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the 
prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime 



 

C 

A G E N D A 
 
 

Item 
No 

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities 

Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

    
 

 

   PRELIMINARY PROCEDURES 
 

 

1   
 

  ELECTION OF THE CHAIR 
 
To seek nominations for the election for the 
position of Chair. 
 

 

2   
 

  APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION 
OF DOCUMENTS 
 
To consider any appeals in accordance with 
Procedure Rule 15.2 of the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules (in the event of an Appeal the 
press and public will be excluded) 
 
(*In accordance with Procedure Rule 15.2, written 
notice of an appeal must be received by the Head 
of Governance and Scrutiny Support at least 24 
hours before the meeting) 
 

 



 

D 

Item 
No 

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities 

Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

3   
 

  EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE 
EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 
 
1) To highlight reports or appendices which: 
  
a) Officers have identified as containing 

exempt information, and where officers 
consider that the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing the information, 
for the reasons outlined in the report. 

 
b) To consider whether or not to accept the 

officers recommendation in respect of the 
above information. 

 
c) If so, to formally pass the following 

resolution:- 
 
 RESOLVED – That the press and public be 

excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of those parts of the agenda 
designated as containing exempt 
information on the grounds that it is likely, in 
view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of the proceedings, 
that if members of the press and public were 
present there would be disclosure to them of 
exempt information 

 
2) To note that under the Licensing Procedure 

rules, the press and the public will be 
excluded from that part of the hearing where 
Members will deliberate on each application 
as it is in the public interest to allow the 
Members to have a full and frank debate on 
the matter before them. 

 

 

4   
 

  LATE ITEMS 
 
To identify any applications as late items of 
business which have been admitted to the agenda 
for consideration 
 
 (the special circumstances shall be identified in 
the minutes) 
 

 



 

E 

Item 
No 

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities 

Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

5   
 

  DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE 
PECUNIARY INTERESTS 
 
To disclose or draw attention to any disclosable 
pecuniary interests for the purposes of Section 31 
of the Localism Act 2011 and paragraphs 13-16 of 
the Members’ Code of Conduct. 
 

 

   HEARINGS 
 

 

6   
 

Little London 
and 
Woodhouse 

 REVIEW OF THE PREMISES LICENCE FOR 
TAAG, UNIT 2B, ST GEORGE HOUSE, 40 
GREAT GEORGE STREET, LEEDS, LS1 3DL 
 
To consider a report by the Chief Officer Elections 
and Regulatory which sets out details of an 
application for a licence review made by West 
Yorkshire Police, in respect of Taag, Unit 2B, St. 
George House, 40 Great George Street, Leeds, 
LS1 3DL.  
 
 
(Report attached) 
 
 

7 - 
218 

   Third Party Recording  
 
Recording of this meeting is allowed to enable those not 
present to see or hear the proceedings either as they take 
place (or later) and to enable the reporting of those 
proceedings.  A copy of the recording protocol is available 
from the contacts named on the front of this agenda. 
 
Use of Recordings by Third Parties – code of practice 
 

a) Any published recording should be accompanied by 
a statement of when and where the recording was 
made, the context of the discussion that took place, 
and a clear identification of the main speakers and 
their role or title. 
 

b) Those making recordings must not edit the recording 
in a way that could lead to misinterpretation or 
misrepresentation of the proceedings or comments 
made by attendees.  In particular there should be no 
internal editing of published extracts; recordings may 
start at any point and end at any point but the 
material between those points must be complete. 

 
 

 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



  
 
Report of the Chief Officer Elections and Regulatory 
 
Report to the Licensing Sub Committee 
 
Date:  Tuesday 16th February 2021 
 
Subject: Review of the Premises Licence for Taag, Unit 2B, St George House, 

40 Great George Street, Leeds, LS1 3DL 
 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): Little London & Woodhouse 

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:  

 

       
 
Executive Summary 
 
This report informs Members that West Yorkshire Police have served on the Licensing 
Authority an application under Section 51 of the Licensing Act 2003, for the review of a 
premises licence in respect of Taag, Unit 2B, St George House, 40 Great George Street, 
Leeds, LS1 3DL.   
 
The application was served on the Licensing Authority on the 22nd December 2020. 
 
The narrative of this report sets out the background of the premises licence, the relevant law 
and highlights appropriate guidance to assist Members in reaching their decision. A 
recommendation is also made to Members that the premises licence is reviewed using their 
statutory powers. 
 
The Licensing Authority is now under a duty to review the premises licence held by these 
premises. 
 

Report Author:  Mrs Emma White 
 
Tel:   0113 378 5029 

Page 7

Agenda Item 6



2 

1.0 Purpose of this Report 

1.1 This report informs the Members of the Licensing Sub Committee of an application 
for a licence review made by West Yorkshire Police, in respect of Taag, Unit 2B,  
St. George House, 40 Great George Street, Leeds, LS1 3DL. The application is 
made on the grounds of the prevention of crime and disorder, public safety and the 
prevention of public nuisance. A copy of the review application and the evidence 
supplied by West Yorkshire Police in support of the application can be found at 
Appendix A. 

2.0 Background Information 

2.1 On the 11th June 2019 a premises licence application was submitted by TAAG 
Chain Limited. This application did not receive any representations and was duly 
granted as applied for on the 10th July 2019.  

2.2 On the 17th July 2020 an application to vary the Designated Premises Supervisor 
was submitted specifying Azam Omidvari in this position. No representation was 
made by West Yorkshire Police and the application took effect on the day of receipt. 

2.3 On the 11th December 2020, an application to transfer the premises licence was 
received by the Licensing Authority.  The application proposed the current premises 
licence holder, Mr Tijani Osenga Yesufu, and attracted representation from West 
Yorkshire Police.  Prior to the application reaching hearing, West Yorkshire Police 
withdrew their representation and the application was granted as requested, 
effective from the day the application was served on Leeds City Council. 

2.4 On the 22nd December 2020, West Yorkshire Police submitted this review 
application. 

3.0  Premises Licence 

3.1  The premises licence holder is Mr Tijani Osenga Yesufu. 

3.2  A copy of the premises licence can be found at Appendix B of this report.   

3.3  In summary, the licence permits the following: 

Sale by retail of alcohol  
Monday to Sunday  12:00 until 23:00 hours 

4.0 

4.1 

5.0

5.1 

6.0

6.1 

Designated Premises Supervisor 

The Designated Premises Supervisor for the premises is Mr Tijani Osenga Yesufu.    

 Location 

A map which identifies the location of these premises is attached at Appendix C. 

 Main Issues 

The application to review the premises licence arises following a number of 
incidents which have taken place at the premises since re-opening on 4th July 2020. 

Page 8



 3 

6.2 The findings allege that the premises have breached COVID regulations and licence 
conditions on numerous occasions, resulting in complaints from members of the 
public and multiple warnings from agencies. 

 
6.3 The review is sought on the grounds of undermining the prevention of crime and 

disorder, public safety and the prevention of public nuisance licensing objectives. 
 
6.4 A full chronology of events leading up to the submission of the review application 

are detailed in the attached copy of the review application at Appendix A of this 
report. 

 
6.5 To help inform the review process, the premises licence holder’s representative has 

submitted additional information in support of the premises.   Member's attention is 
drawn to a copy this information at Appendix D. 

 
7.0 Relevant Representations 
 
7.1 Under the Act representations can be received from responsible authorities and or 

other persons.  Representations must be relevant and, in the case of other people, 
must not be frivolous or vexatious.   

 

 
7.2 The Licensing Authority has received representations supporting the review 

application from an Environmental Health Officer and a Senior Liaison & 
Enforcement Officer for Entertainment Licensing.  Additionally, correspondence has 
been received supporting the premises and the premises licence holder, Mr Tijani 
Yesufu. 

 
7.3 The representation in support of the review application made by Environmental 

Health Officer can be found at Appendix E.  
 
7.4 The representation in support of the review application made by the Senior Liaison 

& Enforcement Officer is attached at Appendix F. 
 
7.5 In order to protect personal data, redacted copies of the representations in support 

of the premises and the premises licence holder are attached at Appendix G.   
Original copies will be provided to the Members of the Licensing Sub Committee in 
advance of the hearing. 

 
8.0 Matters Relevant to the Application 
 
8.1 Members of the Licensing Sub Committee must make decisions which are 

appropriate to the promotion of the licensing objectives which are: 
 

 the prevention of crime and disorder; 
 public safety; 
 the prevention of public nuisance; and 
 the protection of children from harm. 

 
8.2 In making their decision Members are obliged to have regard to guidance issued 

under Section 182 of the Act (Statutory Guidance).  A copy of the relevant section is 
attached at Appendix H.  Members must also have regard to the Council’s licensing 
policy, the relevant representations made and evidence they hear. 

 

Page 9



 4 

9.0 Implications for Council Policy and Government 
 
9.1 It is the stated licensing policy of the Council that when considering a review the 

authority will take into account all relevant circumstances, but will view the matters 
listed in paragraph 13.15 of the policy with particular seriousness. 

 
10.0 Legal and Resource Implications 
 
10.1 There are no resource implications in determining the review. 
 
10.2 The Act provides the right to appeal on any decision reached on review. The right of 

appeal is to the Magistrate’s Court. 
 
11.0 Recommendations 
 
11.1 Members are requested to determine this review. The Committee must take such of 
 the following steps as it considers appropriate for the promotion of the licensing 
 objectives: 
 

 to modify the conditions of the licence (which includes adding new conditions or 
any alteration or omission of an existing condition); 

 to remove the Designated Premises Supervisor; 
 to suspend the licence for a period not exceeding 3 months; and/or 
 to revoke the licence. 

 
11.2 Members may decide that no action is necessary and that the circumstances of the 

review do not require the Committee to take any steps to promote the licensing 
objectives. 

 
11.3 Members should note the Statutory Guidance suggests it is open to Members to 

issue an informal warning to the licence holder or to recommend improvement within 
a particular time.  However the guidance further provides that where responsible 
 authorities have already issued such warnings, the issuing of another warning 
 should not be repeated. 

 
11.4 Where the Committee decide that a modification of conditions or exclusion of 

licensable activities may be imposed, this can either be permanently or for a 
temporary period of up to three months. 

 
11.5 Members are directed to paragraphs 11.24 to 11.28 of the Statutory Guidance which 

related to reviews arising in connection with crime. 
 
11.6 Members of the Licensing Committee are asked to note that they may not take any 
 of the steps outlined above merely because they consider it desirable to do so. It 
 must be appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives. 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A Review Application 
Appendix B Premises Licence  
Appendix C Map of Premises  
Appendix D Premises Licence Supporting Information 
Appendix E Environmental Health Officer Representation 
Appendix F Senior Liaison & Enforcement Officer Representation 

Page 10



 5 

Appendix G Correspondence in Support of the Licence Holder 
Appendix H  Extract from the S182 Guidance 
 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Leeds RËV1
CITY COUNCIL

Entertainment Licensing, Leeds City Gouncil, Civic Hall, Leeds, LSl lUR

Application for a rev¡ew of a prem¡ses l¡cence or club prem¡ses certificate

undcr the Licensing Act 2003

PLEASE READ THE FOLLOWING INSTRUCTIONS FIRST

Before completing this form please read the guidance notes at the end of the form. lf you are

completing this form by hand please write legibly in block capitals. ln all cases ensure your answers

are inside the boxes and written in black ink. Use additional sheets if necessary. You may wish to

keep a copy of the completed form for your records.

lM/e WEST YORKSHIRE POLICE (insert name(s) of applicant) apply for the review of a premises

licence under section 51/apply for the review of a club premises certificate under section 87 of
the Licensing Act 2003 for the premises described in Part I below (delete as applicable)

Part I - Premises or club prem¡ses details

Postal address of premises or club premises, or if none, ordnance survey map reference or

description

TAAG CHAIN LTD

UNIT2B

ST.GEORGE HOUSE

40, GREAT GEORGE STREET

Post town

LEEDS

Post code

LS1 3DL

Page 13

20035990
Text Box
Appendix A



Name of premises licence holder or club holding club premises certificate (if known)

1. TAAG CHA|N LTD (CURRENT PREMISES LTCENCE HOLDER)

2. TtJANt OSENAGA YESUFU (PROPOSED PREMTSES LTCENCE HOLDER By WAy OF

TRANSFER OF PREMTSES LTCENCE APPLTCATTON RECETVED ON 11t12t2020)

Number of premises licence or club premises certificate (if known)

1. PREM/04360/002

2. PREM/04360/003

Part2 * Applicant details

lam Please tick r' yes

An individual, body or business which is not a responsible authority (please read
LJ

guidance note 1, and complete (A) or (B) below)

2 A responsible authority (please complete (C) below)

3 A member of the club to which this application relates (please complete (A) below)

(A) DETAILS OF INDIVIDUAL APPLICANT (fill in as applicable)

X

Mr

Surname

I am '18 years old or over

Mrs Miss Ms

First names

Other title

(for example, Rev)

Please tick r' Yes

2

Page 14



Post Town Postcode

Daytime contact telephone number

Email address (optional)

(B) DETATLS OF OTHER APPLTCANT

Name

Address

Telephone number (if any)

E-mail (optional)

3

Page 15



Name

PC 5548 CATHERINE ARKLE

Address

LEEDS DISTRICT LICENSING DEPARTMENT

LEEDS DISTRICT HQ

ELLAND ROAD

LEEDS

LS11 8BU

Telephone number (if any)

E-mail (optional)

(c) DETATLS OF RESPONSTBLË AUTHORTTY APPL|CANT

This application to review relates to the following licensing objectives(s)

Please tick one or more boxes r'

1. the prevention of crime and disorder

public safety

the prevention of public nuisance

the protection of children from harm

Please state the ground(s) for review (please read guidance note 2)

This Review occurs against the background of the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic and the

implementation of the Health Protection (Coronavirus Restrictions) (No.2) (England) Regulations

2020 (the Regulations), as amended, and other legislation designed to stop the spread of the virus.

2.

3.

4.

X

X

X

4

Page 16



The Review arises following a number of incidents which have taken place at Taag, Unit 28, St

George House, 40, Great George Street, Leeds, LSI 3DL (the Premises) since licensed premises

were allowed to re-open on 4th July 2020, up until 1Sth October 2020.

The incidents have necessitated the involvement of West Yorkshire Police (Licensing Department,

City Neighbourhood Policing Team and CID), Leeds City Council Licensing Enforcement and

Leeds City Council Environmental Protection.

Since licensed premises were permitted to re-open on 4th July 2020 the Premises have breached

COVID Regulations and licence conditions on numerous occasions resulting in complaints from

members of the public and multiple warnings from the authorities. The breaching of the Regulations

and licence conditions have undermined the Prevention of Grime and Disorder objective, the

Public Safety objective and the Prevention of Public Nuisance objective and are the details are

as follows:

On 4th July 2020 the Premises were warned by Environmental Health and Leeds City Council

Licensing Enforcement in relation to the volume of music emanating from the venue.

On llth July 2020 the Premises were warned by PS Paul Kin¡van from City NPT re the volume of

noise, and customers moving around and standing at the bar.

On 18th August 2020 further warnings were issued by Environmental Protection,

On 18th September 2020 a member of the public attended the Premises with 5 friends. They left

after '1 5 minutes concerned about the volume of the music and no social distancing by staff.

On 27th September 2020 WYP received another complaint from a member of the public regarding

no social distancing, large groups gathering inside and no members of staff wearing masks.

On 29th September 2020WYP were made aware of social media posts showing the playing of

loud music, with customers standing up and dancing, and no face coverings being worn at the

Premises.

On 2nd October 2020, Environmental Health officers visited the Premises. lt was reported that the

loud music could be heard by the officers some distance from the venue and the management

were instructed to turn down the bass.

On 7th October 2020 at 2'1;1Ohrs City NPT officers attended the Premises due to reports of loud

music and voices being heard from inside. The metal shutters had been closed over the doors and

windows so that the activities inside could not be viewed from outside the venue. Entry was gained

and over 30 persons were found to be present in various states of inebriation at a student social

event. One male was arrested for being drunk and disorderly and the students were dispersed. The

5

Page 17



owner who is also the Premises Licence Holder (PLH), was seen to park his

vehicle on the opposite side of the road, whilst police were dealing with the situation, and liaise with

a male from the premises and then drive away. Enquiries were conducted as to who had organised

the event and the PLH has been reported for summons for holding/being involved in the holding of

a rave type gathering of more than thirty people indoors, contrary to the Regulations. CCTV was

requested at the time of the offence but was never produced to the investigating officers.

On 9th October 2020 a social encounter in the Premises whilst it was open to the public led to an

allegation of drinks being spiked and, elsewhere in the city, an allegation of a serious sexual assault.

CCTV was requested by CID but it was not forthcoming. CID were informed there was no footage.

Entry to the Premises was forced on 14th October 2020 to recover the hard drive for examination.

No footage was found on the system and a report from a Police lmaging Officer who examined the

unit stated it had never been used and could not have been in situ for any length of time. lt is strongly

suspected that the hard drive which was present on 7th and grh of October had been disposed of.

On 14rh October 2020, a Direction Order (the Direction) was issued against the Premises by the

Director of Public Health, under the provisions of the Health Protection (Coronavirus, Restrictions)

(No.3) (England) Regulations 2020. The Direction came in to effect at 00.01hrs on 1 5th October 2020

and required the Premises to:

close between the hours of '1 8:00 - 07:00; and

when open, there were to be no celebratory gatherings.

On 28th October 2020 al a meeting between the PLH, his solicitor, and the authorities. ffi
the hard drive which was seized by the police had been in situ since he had started

operating and that he hadn't known it was not retaining footage. Also present was a proposed

Designated Premises Supervisor, lffi who stated a rogue member of bar staff with keys to

the venue had been solely responsible for the student event on 7th October 2020, and that no-one

else with any responsibility for the premises had known about it. Bothffirnd{tm
versions of events are clearly untrue.

ln relation to failing to promote the Fnevention of Publíc l{uisance objective, the Premises have

allowed activities to take place which are prejudicial to the health of the wider public and not just

those taking part in the activities at the Fremises itself, This is a clear link to the undermining of the

Fublic Safety objective. By failing to enforce the 2m social distancing rule and allowing people to
gather in signifìcant numbers, they have failed to prevent the spread of Covid-19 despite very clear

laws preventing close social interaction between different households to control the spread of the

disease.

Public safety has also been compromised by the closing of the metal shutters over the windows and

main door of the premises on the evening of 7th Octsber 2020.

o

6

Page 18



Please provide as rnuch information as possible to support the application (please read

guidance note 3)

CJA Statement from PC 5548 Catherine Arkle

CJA statement x 2 from PC Paige

CJA statement from PC Goodyear

Screenshotfromlnstagrambelongingtomlnstagramaccount

Objection letter from West Yorkshire Police to application to transfer the premises licence

7

Page 19



Have you made an application for review relating to this premises before?

please tick / yes

tr

Day Month Year

lf yes please state the date of that application

lf you have made representations before relating to this premises please state what they

were and when you made them

8

Page 20



Please tick r' Yes

€

o

I have sent copies of this form and enclosures to the responsible authorities and the

premises licence holder or club holding the club premises certificate, as appropriate

I understand that if I do not comply with the above requirements my application will be rejected

X

X

IT IS AN OFFENCE, LIABLE ON CONVICTION TO A FINË UP TO LEVEL 5 ON

TFIE STANDARD SEALË, UNDER SECTIOIS 158 OF THE LICENSING ACT 2OO3

TO MAKE A FALSË STATEMENT !N OR IN CONhIECTION WITH THIS

AFPLIGATION.

Part 3 - Signatures (please read guidance note 3)

Signature of applicant or applicant's solicitor or other duly authorised agent. (See guidance

note 5). lf signing on behalf of the applicant please state in what capacity.

Signature

Date

Capacity

o

Page 21



Contact l{ame (where not previously given) and address for correspo ndence associated

with this application (please read guidance note 6)

ffi
Solicitor

WYP tegalServices

Force Headquarters

Laburnum Road

Fost town

Wakefield

Post code

WFl 3QP

Telephone number (if any)

ffi#
lf you would prefer us to correspond with you by e-mail youn e-mail address (optional)

Notes fon guidance

1. A responsible authority includes the local police, fire and rescue authority and other statutory

bodies which exercise specifìc functions in the local area.

2. The ground(s) for review must be based on one of the licensing objectives.

3. Please list any additional information or details for example dates of problems which are

included in the grounds for review if available.

4. The application form must be signed.

5. An applicant's agent (for example solicitor) may sign the form on their behalf provided that they

have actual authority to do so.

6. This is the address which we shall use to correspond with you about this application.

10

Page 22



NICHE Ref. No:

Statement of:

Date of birth:

WEST YORKSHIRE POLICE

WITNË$S STATËMËNT
(CriminalJustice Act 1967, s^9; Magistrates'CouÉs Act 1980, s.SB;

Criminal Procedure Rules, Rule 16.2)

URN

Catherine Arkle

Over 1B Occupation: Police Constable 5548

Check box if witness evidence is visually recorded Z ßuppy wifness detaits on rear)

lntroduction

1. I am the above named Police Officer employed by West Yorkshire Police (hereafter referred to as WYP)

and I currently work as a Licensing Officer in Leeds District. I have been a serving Police Officer since

September 1988.

2. I have a Delegation of Authority from the Chíef Constable of West Yorkshire Police to make any

applications and/or representations under the Licensing Act 2003, the Gambling Act 2005 and the Local

Government (Miscellaneous Provisíons) Act 1982 (as amended by the Police and Crime Act 2009) to

promote the licensing objectives.

3. I also have the Chief Constable's specific authority to appear before the Licensing Committee or

Magistrates' Courts on behalf of WYP to prosecute and/or defend any licensing, gambling or Sexual

Entertainment Venue (SEV) proceedings, under s223 Local Government Act 1972.

4. As part of my role I work alongside Leeds City Council (LCC) Licensing Enforcement Team and react to

incidents reported at or connected to licensed premises. This includes the enforcement of licence

conditions, liaising with premises licence holders, responding to issues of concern and working with

partner agencies to ensure that premises are operating safely and within the law.

5. I work closely with partner agencies and, where necessary, look to take action against licensed and

unlicensed premises where necessary, including reviews of the licence, summary reviews and closure

notices under the Criminal Justice and Police Act 2001.

Signature

This statement (consisting of: 13 page(s) each signed by me) is true to the best of my knowledge and belief
and I make it knowing that, if it is tendered in evidence, I shall be liable to prosecution if I have wilfully stated
in it anything which I know to be false or do not believe to be true.

Signature: Date: 1611212020

Time and date statement taken:

N4G11

Signature witnessed by:

(Revised 1.12.'16)

Page 23



Continuation Sheet No. 2
NICHE Ref. No: URN

Continuation Statement of Catherine Arkle

The Premises

6. This document is an overview statement relating to an application to review a premises licence (the

Review) made in respect of Taag (hereafter shall be referred to as the Premises), Unit 28, St. George's

House, 40 Great George Street, Leeds, LS1 3DL.

7. The Premises Licence Holder is Taag Chain Ltd. with the sole named director as Arian TAAGHOBI

(the PLH). The Designated Premises Supervisor is Asam OM¡DVARI (the DPS), who WYP understand

to be the PLH's mother.

B. The Premises were described as a cafélbpas bar when the licence was first applied for and granted in

July 2019, and the conditions were offered that it would not be alcohol led. The licence authorises:

u sale by retail of alcohol between 12:00hrs and 23:00hrs every day, and

o opening times between 07:00hrs until 23:30hrs every day.

L This review occurs against the background of the ongoing Covid-lg pandemic and the implementation

of the Health Protection (Coronavirus Restrictions) (No.2) (England) Regulations 2020 (the

Regulations), as amended, and other legislation designed to stop the spread of the virus.

10. The Review arises following a number of incidents which have taken place at the Premises since

licensed premises were allowed to re-open on 4th July 2020, up until 15th October 2020.The Committee

will be aware that all licensed premises were forced to close in the Leeds Council area on 5th November

2020, due to the second national lockdown, and remained closed from 2nd December 2020, when Tier

3 restrictions were imposed on the region.

1 1. The Sub-Committee should not think that the incidents drawing to a close on 1Sth October 2020 was the

result of efforts taken by the Premises management to "get its house in order"; rather, the incidents

came to an end only as a result of enforcement action taken by the Council.

12.The application will show that the Premises breached the Regulations and, in so doing, undermined

the licensing objectives and jeopardised the control of the pandemic, as set down in the Regulations.

The Sub-Committee will be specifically drawn to the incidents that prompt the Review, and the Chief

Constable respectfully requests that action is taken against the Fremises.

Signature

MG1 1

Signature Witnessed by:

(Revised 1 .12.16)

Page 24



Continuation Sheet No. 3
NICHE Ref. No URN

Continuation Statement of Catherine Arkle

Th_e Application to Review

13. The following sets out the incidents at the Premises and the failings by the Premises relied upon by

the Chief Constable in this Review from July 2020 onwards.

14. On 4th July 2020,the first day upon which licensed premises were able to open after the first national

lockdown, the Premises were warned by Leeds City Council Licensing Enforcement and Environmental

Health officers in relation to the volume of music emanating from the Premises.

15. Background music at that time was supposed to be played at a volume that would not require people to

raise their voices, which was seen as encouraging aerosol transmission of the virus. This warning does

not appear to have been heeded.

16. At 23.09hrs on Saturday 11th July 2020, PS 44gE KIRWAN from the Leeds District City Neighbourhood

Policing Team (NPT) attended at the Premises as he could hear music and raised voices from the other

side of the street as he was walking by.

17. As he approached the door, the officer could clearly see people moving around inside, people standing

at the bar and could hear loud music and voices from inside. He described it as looking and sounding

like "busrness as usuaf'.

18. The management were again warned regarding the volume of the music, with the matter being referred

byWYP to Environmental Health, the lead agency on business compliance with Covid-19 regulations.

Body worn camera footage of the incident has been retained.

19. On lBth August 2020, I became aware of further warnings from Environmental Protection to the

Premises about their lack of social distancing, their failure to prevent dancing and the playing of loud

music.

20.On lBth September 2020 another complaint was logged by WYP from a member of the public, who

stated they had attended the Premises between 19.30- 20.00hrs on that date with five other persons,

but left prematurely due to the playing of loud music and no social distancing in place. These are

concerns that would continue to manifest in the Fremises.

Signature

MG11

Signature Witnessed by:

(Revised 1.12.1ô)

Page 25



Continuation Sheet No. 4
NICHE Ref. No URN

Continuation Statement of Catherine Arkle

21.The person reported that they had to shout to be heard by each other. They also complained of being

put on a table suitable for only four persons, and that staff were not wearing masks, They spoke of

feeling very uncomfortable and anxious, and thus left the Premises within 15 minutes of arriving. I

therefore referred the matter to Environmental Health.

22. On 27th September 2020,1 noted another logged complaint to WYP from a member of the public, stating

that there was no social distancing at the Premises, large groups were gathering inside and that no-

one was wearing a mask amongst thç staff. I again referred the matter to Environmental Health.

23. On 29th September 2020,1 was made aware of social media posts, which were said to show the playing

of loud music, with customers standing up and dancing, and no face coverings being worn at the

Fremises. By this time, however, the footage was no longer available on social media for me to view.

24. On 2nd October 2020, Environmental Health officers visited the Premises. lt was reported that the loud

music could be heard by the officers some distance from the venue and the management were instructed

to turn down the bass.

25.4t 21.1Ohrs on 7th October 2020, Leeds District City NPT officers attended the Premises after loud

music and voices could be heard inside. Officers reported that the metal shutters had been pulled down

over the entrance door and windows, so that the interior and those within could not be seen.

26. After banging on the metal shutters, officers eventually gained access, having heard voices telling

everyone to sit down. lnside, over thirty students and members of staff were present, with alcohol being

consumed and music being played. The students were dispersed and enquiries made as to who had

facilitated the event.

27. One drunken male identified himself as the organiser. He was later arrested for being drunk and

disorderly. Prior to his arrest he had run over to a vehicle, which had pulled up on the other side of the

road from the Premises, and spoken to the occupant. Officers noted the registered number of the

vehicle which was and is registered to the PLH. Body worn footage from officers has been retaíned as

evidence.

28, CCTV was requested to be viewed at the time but staff said they could not operate the system

Signature

MG1 1

Signature Witnessed by:

(Rev¡sed 1.12.16)

Page 26



Continuation Sheet No. 5
NICHE Ref. No URN

Continuation Statement of Catherine Arkle

29. On 8th October 2020, pe 2472 ROGËRS spoke to the FLF{ on the phone. He initially said he had been

present on the premises on 7th October 2020, but then changed his account and said that staff had made

him aware of the incident.

30. The PLt{ blamed the event on a female member of staff called

he had sacked her.

and said that

31. PC ROGERS requested that she be able to view the CCTV at the Fremises. The PtH stated that he

could not work the CCTV system, but stated that he had an app on his phone that allowed him to watch

a live time feed. The PLH stated that he did not know how to record the footage.

32. ïhere are conditions on the premises licence that state:

A suitable Closed Circuit Television (CCTV)sysfem will be operational at the premrses af att times

when licensable activities are being carried out and at any other times where members of the pubtic

are present on the premises.

The CCTV sysfem will contain the correct time and date stamp information.

The CCTV sysfem will have sufficient storage retention capacity for a minimum of 31 days'

continuous footage, which will be of good quality.

A designated member/members of staff at the premises will be authorised fo access the CCTV

footage and be conversant with operating the CCTV system. At the reguesf of an authorised officer

of the Licensing Authority or a Responsible Authority (under the Licensing Act 2005) any CCTV

footage as requested, will be downloaded immediately or secured to prevent any overwriting. The

CCTV footage material will be supplied, on reguest, to an authorise officer of the Licensing Authority

or a Responsible Authority.

33. PC ROGERS has never been able to view the CCTV footage.

34. On 9th October 2020, a social encounter in the Premises whilst it was open to the public led to an

allegation of drinks being spiked and, elsewhere in the city, an allegation of a serious sexual assault.

35. On 1Oth October 2020, pC 6973 GÛODVEAR, the officer in the sexual assault case, attended the

Fremises and spoke with a young female who identified herself as the manager. On requesting to view

Signature: Signature Witnessed by;

e

@

6

MG1 1 (Revised 1.12.16)

Page 27



Continuation Sheet No, 6
NICHE Ref. No URN:

Continuation Statement of Catherine Arkle

CCTV footage, the officer was told he would need to contact the Fl-Fl's solicitor and was given the

details.

36. pC GOODYEAR spoke to the FLH's solicitor,

appeared to struggle to contact his client.
ffi from Levi solicitors, who initially

37'on12thoctober2020'mcontactedPcG0ÕDYËARtosaythattherewasnorecordedccTV
footage at the Fremises and that a CCTV specialist had attended on Friday (no date given) and was

due to attend again the following Friday,

38. pC GOOÐYEAR stated to tßhat he would need to examine the CCTV system himself to ensure

what had been said was correct, especially given the seriousness of the recent allegation. He left details

of when he would be on duty and asked m to enquire about the availability of the FLH so the

CCTV could be checked.

39. When PC GÕOÞYEAR realised that Leeds District City NPT officers were also struggling to gain access

to the CCTV system, and he had not heard back regarding the Fl-H's availability to access the

Premises, he formed the opinion that there was a deliberate obstruction being made by management

to the viewing of any evidence of either the pre-amble to the sexual assault or the Coronavirus

Regulations breaches.

40. On 14th October 202O, in order to secure and preserve any evidence, entry was forced to the Fremises

under s1B0 Licensing Act 2003 and the CCTV hard drive was seized. lt was later transported to the

lmaging Unit at Calder Park, Wakefield for examination.

41. On 14th October 2020, a Direction Order (the Direction) was issued against the Premis*u blm
ffi Director of Public Health, under the provisions of the Health Protection (Coronavirus,

Restrictions) (No.3) (England) Regulations 2020.The Direction came in to effect at 00.01hrs on 1Sth

October 2020 and required the Frennises to:

* close between the hours of 1B:00 - 07:00; and

* when open, there were to be no celebratory gatherings

Signature

tvlc 1 1

Signature Witnessed by:

(Revised 1.12.16)

Page 28



Continuation Sheet No. 7
NICHE Ref. No: URN

Continuation Statement of Catherine Arkle

42. The Direction was issued for a period of twenty-eight days, with a requirement that it was reviewed every

seven days to ensure that the condítions for issuing were still met.

43. The FLI-I had the right of appeal and could make representations to the Secretary of State. The Direction

still had to be complied with pending any appeal or representation. lt is understood that no such appeal

was lodged by the Frernises against the making of the Direction.

44.The Premises effectively closed entirely from that date, notwithstanding the fact that the Direction

allowed them to open between 07.00-17.59:59hrs each day, as most of their trade was post 1B.Oohrs.

45. On 23'd October 2020,ffitheWYPlmagingofficerexaminingtheCCTVfromthe
Fremises, reported as follows:

" Following the Form 1 1a requests'for incidents 13200503643 and 13200508534. No footage can be

recovered as no footage has ever been recorded to the DVR. Enclosed are a few pictures of the

inside of the system. Notice no dust on the fan (it looks brand-new), also none on any of the inside

casing and circuit board which always catch dust with the airtbw pushing through. The IJSB and

other ports on the rear of the system show no dust, which you would expect from even a small

amount of use. The DVR when booted up shows the start-up wizard as it would from new. Recovery

analysis of the storage harddrive showed small amounts of footage from the Quality control check

with the employee in the factory in China. No other footage was present. The system is manufactured

in Feb 2018 but all clues point to it being a new sysfem, ie not one that had been unboxed in situ for

a length of time, which would have expected to have collected at least a minimum of dust. tt has atso

never recorded footage or run through the setup out of the factory. lf an original system is found

(even iust the original harddrive), we still may be able to recover any potentiat deleted footage to

assrsf in both these offences. I will leave this CCTV sysfem for collection on the weekend once I
have finished updating our case management system."

46. The expert evidence from the lmaging Officer suggests that the hard drive seized on 14th October 2020

was brand new and had not been in situ for any length of time.

47.A1 14.00hrs on 28th October 2020, I attended a meeting at the Premises. This meeting had been

requested byÜmfrom Environmental Health. Also present was:

Signature

MG,11

Signature Witnessed by

(Rev¡sed 1.12.16)

Page 29



Continuation Sheet No. B

NICHE Ref. No: URN:

Continuation Statement of Catherine Arkle

, Leeds City Council Licensing Enforcement;

ffiþ soticitor for rhe ptm;

ffi the proposed DPS;

ffifrom craven safety services; and

o The PtH, who was present for most of the meeting via Zoom due to self-isolating on his recent
.return from abroad.

4smwasintroducedbyffiasaconsultantwhowouldbedoingafullCovid-19
compliant risk assessment for the Prernis*=.qËruwas introduced as the proposed new DpS

once she had passed her personal licence course.

49. I asked the FLl"l about the lack of CCTV footage from key dates, and specifically asked where the hard

drive from 7th and grh of October was. He stated that the hard drive, which had been seized on 14th

October 2020,was the one which had always been present on the Premises and that he had just not

known it was not recording. Having read the report from the lmaging Officer, this account appears to be

false.

50. I queried the student event that occurred on 7th October 2020 C:ffre stated that no-one else had

known about the event, including the FLH, and that a female member of bar staff with keys to the
Premises, identified had organised it all herself

51. This claim was clearly untrue, as the PLH has since admitted he was present in the venue on that night.

Furthermore, WYP have been sent an image from the PLH's personal lnstagram account advertising

the events from 30th September 2020.ll is quite clear that management were fully aware of the event

andstronglysuggeststhatmwouldbeunsuitabletoholdapositionoftrustatthePremises'

52. Agencies were told that thirteen cameras had been fitted and were working and incorporated in to the

new CCTV system at the Premises from 17th October 2020. asked if she could

view the ccrv ano if fflll} could operate it. lt was said that she could not operate it

53. On 3l"tOctober 2020, a second national lockdown in England was announced and was implemented

on Sth November 2020. The Frer¡rises remained closed from the Directions issued by the Council on

15th October 2020.

Signature

@

@

@

a

MG.I1

Signature Witnessed by:

(Rev¡sed '1.12.16)

Page 30



Continuation Sheet No. 9
NICHE Ref. No URN

Continuation Statement of Catherine Arkle

54. On 26th November 2020, Leeds District City NPT interviewed under caution the arested male from 7th

October 2020, , and his girlfriend

55{mStatedinhisinterviewthathehadbeenacustomeronthenightofthestudenteventon7rh
October 2020. He claimed that he had paid for a ticket, which was on his phone. He had arrived early

and got changed at the Frernises.

5u ff) stated that the FLH was already there at the Fremises and was DJ-ing for a while. When

theFttll"ft'ffilookedaftersomeofthemusic.Whenofficersentered,hewasbytheDJ
decks, standing up and not wearing a mask so he knew he was in trouble.

u'{rstatedthathepanickedandsaidhewastheorganiser.Hestateditwasastudentsocial
where games are played. He stated that he had never worked at the Frenrises.

u8ffistatedinherinterviewthatshehadbeenemployedatthePremisesasamemberof
bar staff. She stated she was not a manager and did not hold a personal licence. She denied organising

the event.

59. that the PLF{ had in fact organised the student event on 7rh october 2020, and

that he had advertised it by posting it on his personal lnstagram account and tl.re Frernises, lnstagram

account.

ooÜnllp stated that it was a ticketed event and that sixty-six tickets had been sotd, which

amounted to eleven tables of six, but that not everyone had attended. She said there had been over

thirty persons present at the Fremises. This would clearly breach the Regulations, which at that time
prohibited indoor gatherings in businesses of more than thirty people.

61rustatedthattheFLF|waspresentatthePremisesfromthestartoftheeventatapprox.
19.00hrs but later left. She was under the impression he was going to return. She stated that the shutters

were pulled down to protect the windows as one had a crack in it. lt is unclear why all the shutters would

need to be pulled down if only one window required thís claimed protection.

u,mstatedthatthePLF.|hadknownthatWYPofficershadarrivedashetoldherhehad
watched it on the CCTV system on his phone. He drove by when officers were there and then waited

until he saw WYP had left before re-attending in order to collect the keys from her.

Signature:

MG1 1

Signature Witnessed by:

(Revised 1.12.16)

Page 31



Continuation Sheet No. l0
NICHE Ref. No URN:

Continuation Statement of Catherine Arkle

63 ffntrro stated that she did not know she had been sacked, as the FLt{ had totd Fc 2472

ROGËRS on Bth October 2020. She stated that in fact she had turned up at work the following week and

it was only then that she was told that she was on a temporary suspension.

64. As a result of the two interviews under caution

reported for summons for holding/being involved in the holding

thirty people indoors, contrary to the Regulations.

'no tnp the FLH has been

of a rave type gathering of more than

65. On 30th November 2020, I was made aware by Environmental Health and Council Licensing

Enforcement of correspondence they had received from a male called t:fn The male

identified himself as the proposed new ÞFS of the Premises and part of the new mana gement team in

charge of the venu

events.

stated that he had been in the índustry for ten years running various

66. I am aware of some of those events, which were run at premises on Call Lane, then known as "Norman

Bar". During the time some of these events ran at "Norman Bar", WYP had serious concerns in relation

to crime and disorder associated with those premises, which culminated in an offence of violent disorder

a summary review arising from that disorder and the ultimate closure of the venue.

67. The Chief Constable would therefore have concerns if fft were to be proposed as DF$ at the
Premises, or even the running his events at the Premises, as there is clear and obvious potential they

would attract the same clientele as "Norman Bar" attracted between 2018 and 201g, which led to its
closure.

68. On 2nd December 2020, West Yorkshire came out of the second national lockdown and was placed into

Tier 3. As a result, the Fremises therefore remain closed given that alcohol cannot be sold for

consumption on premises within a Tier 3 area under the current rules governing that tier. To date, there

has been no indication that West Yorkshire and/or Leeds Council area will be moved to Tier 2.

69. On Friday 1 1th December 2O20 West Yorkshire Police received an application to transfer the premises

licence from the PLH toffIffi WYP object to this transfer and the grounds forthis are set out

in my objection letter dated 17th December 2020.

Signature

MG1 1

Signature Witnessed by:

(Revised 1 .12.16)

Page 32



Continuation Sheet No. 1 1

NICHE Ref. No: URN

Continuation Statement of

Genqlusion

Catherine Arkle

70. The above chronology of incidents show that the Premises have carried out blatant contraventions of

the Regulations and put at risk the safety of the public. The Regulations were implemented to control

the spread of a worldwide pandemic that has claimed, atthe time of writing this statement, 62,033 deaths

in the United Kingdom alone.

71. ln allowing people from different households to socialise together as if there were no disease to control,

the Premises have completely undermined the public safety objective and may have directly or

indirectly contributed to the further spread of the Covid-19 virus.

72. Public safety was further undermined at the student event on 7th October 2020, where the metal shutters

were closed over the windows and exiUentrance door in an attempt to hide what was occurring from the

authorities. This presented a clear fire risk to those present and was referred to West Yorkshire Fire

Service at the time. lt also showed that the Premises knew precisely what they were doing was wrong.

73. ln addition to the above, these incidents shows a complete failure on behalf of the person(s) responsible

for the Premises to promote two of the remaining Licensing objectives, namely:

" The Prevention of Crime and disorder

o The Prevention of Public Nuisance

74. ln relation to failing to promote the Prevention of Crime and Disorder objective, by opening with excess

of thirty people inside at an organised event the Pl-H has acted contrary to the Regulations. Even by

selling sixty-six tickets for this event, it is clear that the management of the Fremises was prepared to

break the law. lt should have been clear to the Premises that a maximum of thirty tickets could have

been sold, or time slots provided so that no more than thirty people were present. There was no attempt

whatsoever to adhere to the laws in force and shows a complete disregard of this licensing objective.

75. lt is also very strongly suspected that the FLH has replaced the original CCTV hard drive with a new

hard drive, whether to prevent the authorities viewing the breaches of the restrictions since opening on

4th July 2020, andlor the social interaction that led to allegations of drink spiking on the Premises on 9th

October 2020.

Signature:

MG1 1

Signature Witnessed by:

(Rev¡sed 1.12.16)

Page 33



Continuation Sheet No. 12
NICHE Ref. No URN

Continuation Statement of Catherine Arkle

76. lt is quite clear that the CCTV system was operational prior to the new system being seized. This is

made out by the fact thal the Pl-H was able to watch CCTV footage of WYP officers attending on 7th

October 2020, according to the account and even on the basis of his own

words lo FÇ 24V2 ROGËRS when he said he could watch a live feed of the CCTV

77. lt is clear that the PLH had a good knowledge of how to access the CCTV and was equally

knowledgeable about a system he later claimed he did not know was not retaining footage. The clearly

untrue accounts provided to WYP may amount to criminal offences committed by the FLH and remain

under investigation. ln any event, this demonstrates the honesty, or lack thereof, of the person

responsible for operation of the Premises and entrusted to cooperate with enforcement authorities.

78. On multiple occasions, the Fnemises have been warned by both Environmental Health and Council

Licensing Enforcement, about their lack of enforcement of social distancing, the wearing of face masks

both by staff and customers, allowing dancing, and the playing of loud music that encouraged the raising

of voices and thereby aerosol transmission of the virus. Little to nothing was done to rectify this.

79. ln relation to failing to promote the Prevention of Public Nuisance objective, the Fremises have allowed

activities to take place which are prejudicial to the health of the wider public and not just those taking

part in the activities at the Premises itself. This is a clear link to the undermining of public safety. By

failing to enforce the 2m social distancing rule and allowíng people to gather in significant numbers, they

have failed to prevent the spread of Covid-19 despite very clear laws preventing close social interaction

between different households to control the spread of the disease.

80. What is apparent from the events that have taken place at the Fremises since July 2O20, is that tþe

PtH has little to no regard for the law in respect of those restrictions, and is prepared to hide his

misdemeanours by breaching licence conditions, breaching Covid-19 legislation, and by possibly

disposing of recorded evidence.

81. WYP can demonstrate that the student event on 7th October 2020 was not a 'spur of the moment' event,

nor was it a one off or isolated event. The FLþ{'s lnstagram account advertised student events in

advance starting from 30th September 2020.1t is perhaps of little surprise that this has now been deleted,

no doubt in an attempt to distance the Pl*l*{ from the event, however a screenshot of this post

demonstrates clearly the fact it existed.

Signature:

¡/G11

Signature Witnessed by:

(Rev¡sed 1.12.16)

Page 34



Continuation Sheet No. 13
NICHE Ref. No URN

Continuation Statement of Catherine Arkle

82. Similarly, we cannot check the CCTV to view what took place on 30th September 2020 or 7th October

2020, as that footage does not exist on a system that the PLH says was in the venue allthe time. lt is

clearfrom the lmaging Officer that the CCTV system seized was brand new and not that in situ on those

dates.

83. Whilst WYP accept that the current economic climate caused by the Covid-19 pandemic is placing a

huge strain on the whole of the hospitality industry, that in no way excuses such abuses of legislation

that the vast majority of law abiding Leeds businesses and members of the public have been obseruing

over the past weeks and months.

84. ln making this representation, the Chief Constable seeks to send out a clear and strong message to

Licence Holders that blatant breaches of Government restrictions will not be tolerated and that the public

confidence in the measures taken to combat the spread of Covid-19 needs to be maintained robustly.

Signature

MG1,1

Signature Witnessed by:

(Rev¡sed 1.12.16)

Page 35



WEST YORKSHIRE POLICE

OFFICIAL (when complete)

W¡TNËSS $TATEE4HNT
(Criminal Justice Act 1967, s.9; Magistrates' Courts Act 1980, s.SB;

Criminal Procedure Rules, Rule 27.2)
https ://www. bishopearth.com/ilearn/caseFiles/mglndex/

Check box if witness evidence is visually recorded J þupptywtness detaits on rear)

4t2129 hours on the 7th of October 2O2O,l attended at TAAG, GREAT GEORGE STREET, LEEDS, in
company with PC 3157 PIERCE and PC 1026 OLIVER.

Upon arrival at TAAG, I could see that all 4 shutters were down and TAAG appeared to be closed. I

could hear loud music coming from within TAAG and I could see lights flashing through the windows
above the shutters. At this point I have actívated my BWV (camera 233060).

PC 1026 opened the left hand side glass door and behind the door was a metal shutter which was
closed to the floor. PC 1026 knocked on the shutter and I heard a female shout words to the effect of,
"EVERYONE SIT THE  DOWN RIGHT NOW" and there was a lot of commotion which sounded
like people hurrying around the room. The shutterwas then opened and I could clearly see that the bar
was full of approximately 40 people, none of them were wearing masks and upon our entry they were all
sitting at tables. PC 1026 asked who the organiser was and a male I now know to be ü

- 

J-
very obstructive and aggiêS5-ive and refused to provide his details. was ffiRlñ-dwas
slurring his words, his eyes were glazed and he smelt of intoxicants. He was placed into handcuffs until
his details were confirmed. At 2136 hours the handcuffs were removed and I re-entered TAAG to assist
with gettíng the staff details.

Whilst inside staff stated that people were up to go to the toilet and that people were trying to dance in
their seats. They explained that the shutter was down dq-àtp oeg_gllhe windows being smashed and to
preventmorepéopleenteringasitwasaprivateevent.ffistatedthattheyhadalistof
ticketed people and that 59 people had paid for a tícket bu'tTh-ey believed that only 40 had actually
attended and said that this is the first time that they had all been together since March and agreed that it
got a bit out of hand.

At this oointff)entered the bar and requested my collar number and said to me, "RIGHT CAN
YOU LEAVE MYVENUE PLEASE", I have told him no and eventually he has gone into the back of the
bar and changed his clothing.

PC 31 57 , PC1026 and I have left the bar but returned 2 minutes later to request CCTV
Whilst I was requesting the owners
A ", PC 3157
appeared to square up to PC 3157

details, I to PC 3157,
his language

by puffing

"I'M SAYING YOU'RE

"ndmmobile phone out of his

Signature; PM ROGERS

MGI 1

took his

Signature witnessed by:

ÕFFICIAL (when complete)

)NICHE Ref. No:

$tateme¡¡t of:

Date of bidh:

PC 2472 Paige ROGERS

Over 18

URN

Occupation: Police Constable

This statement (consisting of: 2 page(s) each signed by me) is true to the best of my knowledge and
belief and I make it knowing that, if it is tendered in evidence, I shall be liable to prosecution if I have
wilfully stated in it anything which I know to be false or do not believe to be true.

Signature: PM ROGERS Date: Bth October 2020

Time and date statement taken: 0014 hours, 8th October 2020

(Revised 24.9.20)

Page 36



OFFlelAt (when complete)

Continuation Sheet No. 2
NICHE Ref. No: 13200503449 URN

Continuation Statement of Paige ROGERS

pocket and appeared to set it to record pointing it at PC 3157 and said, "DO YOU WANT TO GRAB ME
AGAIN,  GRAB ME'"

PC 1026 has taken controlof and applied one ha
drunk and disorderly but

ndcuff and arrested him for beino
raKen conrro'otl] nã

nd to the rear for handcuffsîo be
and tensed up. I have

e and to facilitate getting his ha
was told not to resist and said, "DON'T TAKE MY PHONE OFF ME yOU

Signature Witnessed by:

ÕFFICIAL (when complete)

nd
and mobile ohone to
applied.|i}

'.

ffi,asplacedintotherearofamarkedPolícevanandtransportedtoEllandRoadCustodySite where his detention was authorised.

Prior to this incident at approximately 1845 hours on the 7l1Ol2O20,l drove along OXFORD pLACE and
turned left onto GREAT GEORGE STREET. Whilst driving past, TAAG was on my right hand side and I

saw a group of approximately 5 people all dressed in florescent party clothes entering TAAG. 3 of the 4
shutters were down and I thought this odd as usually they would all be up when the venue is open and
you can clearly see into the bar.

Signature: PM ROGERS

MGl 1 (Rev¡sed 24,9.20)

Page 37



WESÏ YORKSHIRE POLICE

OFFIeIAL (when complete)

WåTNËSS STATËMENT
(CriminalJustice Act 1967, s.9; Magistrates' Courts Act 1g80, s.SB;

Criminal Procedure Rules, Rule 16.2)

Check box if witness evidence is visually recorded Z þuppry wifness detaits on rear)

Further to my statement dated the 811012020, I would like to add the following;

At approximately 1600 on the
telephone. During that and then
changed his mind and said that they
do not usually do student nights but he was ap who him she

..CALLING ALL SOCIETIES TO GET BOOKED FOR FUTURE WEEKS"..TMG PRESENTS WAVY WEDNESDAYS THE PLACE TO PRE E1 JAGERBOMBS [3 DOUBLES [5
STUDENT ROUNDS''
'STUDENT NTGHT AT @TAAG.LEEDS ON THË 30rH SEp SOLD OUT tN 30 M|NS'

There are also 4 images on the promotion.

TÍå i:i'rym5##Xin,ine to manaee it stated that he was 'taking this seriously'

During the call I requested the CCTV 
"nd ryP stated that he doesn't know how to operate it and

iã:*:!¡ffi [::îli::"lJiåil;"i1"J""ff åT:i:ffi :iäîåïl?J'""",:i:Lffi

At approximately 1300 hours on the 2611112020,1 spoke with on the telephone. I informed him
that he was going to be reported for summons for consid rosecution of holding/being involved in
holding a rave type than 30 people indoors. was shocked by this news and

stated that it who was ultimately respo him that
and was aware of the

, was present at and that that he did have
knowledge of the event and that he was didn't like that the
shutters were down and said that he ordered they were opened. He said that he could provide evidence
that he didn't organise it but couldn't tell me what evidence he could offer.

At1331hours,msentmeanemailwithapictureofapromotionattached'lnthe
top left hand cornef is a picture of á-nlãle sat on the bonnet of a blue sports car with the name fmnext to it. The text reads;

I have exhibited this image as follows;

Signature: PM ROGERS

MG11

Signature witnessed by:

0FFle¡AL (when complete)

pNICHE Ref. No:

Stateme¡rt of:

Date of birth:

PC 2472 Paige ROGERS

Over 1B

URN

Occupation: Police Constable

This statement (consisting of: 2 page(s) each signed by me) is true to the best of my knowledge and
belief and I make it knowing that, if it is tendered in evidence, I shall be liable to prosecution if I have
wilfully stated in it anything which I know to be false or do not believe to be true,

sisnature: pM RocERS Dare: Iå;åto"t 
26th November

Time and date statement taken: 1411 hours, Thursday 26th November 2020

(Rev¡sed 12.11.20)

Page 38



OFFICIAI (when complete)

Continuation Sheet No. 2
NICHE Ref. No: 1 3200503643 URN

Continuation Statement of Paige ROGERS

PMR2 - Social Media Post

I have uploaded this image to NICHE ffi

Signature: PM ROGERS Signature Witnessed by:

0FFlClAt (when complete)ÀrG11 (Revised 12.11.20)

Page 39



WEST YORKSHIRE POLICE

RESTRICTED (when complete)

WUITNËSS STATËMËNT
(Criminal Justice Act 1967, s.9; Magistrates' Courts Act 1980, s.bB;

Criminal Procedure Rules, Rule 27.2)

Check box if witness evidence is visually recorded Z þuppty wifness detaits on rear)

I am making this statement in relation to a series of events that took place throughout OCTOBER 2020.

I was investigation an allegation of Rape where by the complainant is alleged to have met the suspect in
TAAG LEEDS, GREAT GEORGE STREET, The complainant alleges that she was 'spiked' and has no
recollection of the evening before waking up the next morníng and realising she had been raped.

A second female present on the same evening alleges that she suffered the same effects as the
complainant.

The administering of a noxious substance to two females was understandably of great concern to West
Yorkshire Police and we wanted to do all that we could to prevent any further possible instances of women
being attacked and bringing the suspect in this case to justice. Of vital importance to this investigation
was the CCTV evidence from TAAG LEEDS. This would help to prove or disprove the allegation.

lfirst made contact with TAAG on 1Oth OCTOBER 2020, when I attended the premises and spoke with a
young female who advised me she was the,manager. I was told that I would need to speak with the
solicitorwhorepresentedtheo*n"'mregardinganyCCTVandprovidedwithhisdetails.

lspokewithh-ilsol":Ïlffi;L,5ylil*::,;?ff"îiîîÎ&rî!P"ëîËË:Ë;5js
lìl:¡l'^"Jr:rt#"ded ccrv foorase from rAAG LEEDS and that a õTTV speciatisr had visited on
Friday (no date was given) and was due to attend the following Friday.

I informed VrÕtnat to be satisfied that there was no footage I would need to examine the system
myseÏ, given-tlãSeriousness of the allegations and the possibility of further women being attacked I felt

*î:ffiffili^ffiT:TJîåïli;:ffil,ff:ilil.îii,iil"#1l:'thänextdayand
By this point I had spoken with the PC ARKLE and was informed that the CITY NPT were also struggling
to get access to CCTV from TÁvqG LEED-S in relalþr to a breach of Corona Virus legislation. lt wãs at
thiJpointthatlfonnedtheopiniontr."ffiwasinfactattemptingtopreventacceSStothe
CCTV system so as not to implicate himsëlfiñïhls offénce.

Signature: T. P. Goodyear Signature witnessed by:

RESTRICTEÐ (when complete)

NICHE Ref. No

Statement of:

Date of birth:

Thomas Peter Goodyear

Over 1B

URN

Occupation: Police Constable

This statement (consisting of: 1 page(s) each signed by me) is true to the best of my knowledge and belief
and I make it knowing that, if it is tendered in evidence, I shall be liable to prosecution if I have wilfully
stated in it anything which I know to be false or do not believe to be true.

signature: T. P, Goodyear Date: 2sth Novemberz}z}

Time and date statement taken: 1707 hours 25111120

MGl I (Revised 08.'10.20)

Page 40



RESTRICTEÞ (when complete)

Continuation Sheet No. 2
NICHE Ref, No: URN

ContinuationStatementof Goodyear

I have no record that I was contacted again to arrange a suitable time for me to view the CCTV system. I

took the decision that to secure and preserve evidence I would need to arrange to access the CCTV
system another way.

I decided to enter the premises under S 180 of the Licensing Act to establish if the CCTV condition of the
premises license was being breached. Entry was forced to the premises on 14th OCTBER 2020 and the
CCTV system was located in a loft space above the utility room.

I called the Regional Scientific Support Services (RSSS) lmaging Unit from the bar before unplugging this
for their advice on whether I was likely to damage or alter any potential footage held on the system by
unplugging it. I was informed I would not and so disconnected the full DVR system and I seized this.

I took this to ELLAND ROAD POLICE STATION and it was booked into property stores. I arranged with
CITY NPT to take this to the RSSS lmaging Unit for examination.

I received an emailfrom   who subsequently had examined the system on 23d OCTOBER
2020 he informed me:

"No footage can be recovered as no footage has ever been recorded to the DVR.

Enclosed are a few pictures of the inside of the system, Notice no dust on the fan (it tooks brand-new),
also none on any of the inside casing and circuit board which always catch dust with the airttow pushing
through. The USB and other poñs on the rear of the system show no dust, which you would expect from
even a smallamount of use.

The DVR when booted up shows the start-up wizard as it would from new.

Recovery analysis of the storage hard-drive showed small amounts of footage from the Quality control
check with the employee in the factory in China. No other footage was present.

The system is manufactured in Feb 2018 but all clues point to it being a new sysfern, ie not one that had
been unboxed in situ for a length of time, which would have expected to have cottected at least a
minimum of dust. lt has also never recorded footage or run through the setup out of the factory."

It is my professional opinion that
vital CCTV evidence which has t

has deliberately avoided handing West Yorkshire police
to identify and convict a da ngerous sexual predator

operatíng within the Leeds area. Should ue to hold a license to serve alcohol I have
seen no evidence to suggest that he
city's residents.

orkshire Police in the future in safeguarding the

Signature: T. P. Goodyear Signature Witnessed by:

RHSTRIeTED (when complete)MG1 1 (Revised 08.10.20)

Page 41



ffiffi ffiffi fi** åffiffiffireffiffi
#wffi -ç*e#ffi æw&,eeffiþ

wffiffi@ gæ æ'A$:ffi#w &ffiæffiffi,&ffi

-1r.1...
Page 42



ruÕT PRÕTËçTIVffiLY MARKËM

wffi$T" v&KK$g#äRm

WffifuKffffi
teeds Distriet ticensing Department
Leeds District HQ

Elland Road
Leeds
LS1 1 BBU

[eeds Disfríef [ieemsng Depar"tment T: 
E:

Date: 17th December 2O2O

Entertainment Lieensing Section
Leeds City Couneil
Givic Hall
Leeds
LSl lUR

SECTION Ã2/,61&17I - LtcENSr AGT 2OO3:

PREUISES - TAAG, 2B,40, GREAT GEORGE STRËËT, LSz 3Ðt

pRopaeEp FREM tses LtGEr,teåHeLÞE_B - ffi
I PC 5548 GATHËR|NË ARKLE a Leeds District Licensing Officer for West Yorkshire Police,
hereby give you notice that I object to your application for the transfer of the premises licence indicated
above.

West Yorkshire Police are satisfied, that the exceptional circumstances of this case are such, that
granting this application would undermine the crime prevention objective.

West Yorkshire Police are so satisfied for the following reasons-:

On Sth January 2009 the proposed premises licence holder was arrested for attempt murder. The
circumstances, taken from the Police National Computer, suggest this was gang related,
connected to licensed premises and involved knife crime. Despite the fact that the proposed
licence holder had no further action taken against him I have asked for further details of his
involvement from Hertfordshire Police and await the result.

The proposed premises licence holder has been involved in the promoting and running of events
at premises in Leeds, which include Norman Bar, 36, Call Lane, during 201Bto 2019. During this
time West Yorkshire Police had serious concerns about violent crime connected with the venue

6

@

ruÕT PRffiTffiffiT$WffiLV MÅRKffiM

Page 43



NOT PROTËETruËtY MARKEE)

involving the use of weapons. As a result of an incident of violent disorder at Norman Bar in 2019
the premises were subject of a summary review due to associated serious violent crime.

I ïhe proposed licence holder is also associated with events which have run both at Taag, the
venue for which he wishes to hold the licence, and other premises known as Mook in Leeds City
Centre during the pandemic and Coronavirus Regulations. Both premises have had multiple
interuentions from Responsible Authorities due to breaches of the Regulations.

e There are therefore real concerns regarding both his past and present associations with both
people and licensed premises which attract violent crime and regular interventions from the
Responsible Authorities.

Therefore, West Yorkshire Police would ask any presiding sub-committee at a hearing, to refuse
this application outright with a view to promoting the crime prevention objective.

PC 5548 CATHERINË ARKLE
Leeds District Licensing Officer
West Yorkshire Police

rUÕT PRÕTKGTIVËLY MARKHM

Page 44



MLeeds 
_._._ C I T Y C O U N C I L 

Premises licence number: 

Initial licence from: 

Current version effective from: 

Premises Licence 

Part A Schedule 12 Licensing Act 2003 

Part 1 - Premises Details 

PREM/04360/003 

10th July 2019 

11th December 2020 

 

Postal address of premises, or if none, ordnance survey map reference or description 

Taag, Unit 2B, St George House, 40 Great George Street, Leeds, LSl 3DL 

Licensable activities authorised by this licence 

Sale by retail of alcohol, 

Times the licence authorises the carrying out of licensable activities 

Sale by retail of alcohol 

Every Day 

Opening hours of the premises 

Everyday 

12:00 - 23:00 

07:00 - 23:30 

Alcohol is sold for consumption on the premises 

Part 2 

Name, (registered) address, telephone number and email (where relevant) of holder of 
premises licence 

Name, address and telephone number of designated premises supervisor where the premises 
licence authorises for the supply of alcohol 

Personal licence number and issuing authority of personal licence held by designated premises 
supervisor where the premises licence authorises for the supply of alcohol 

Personal licence number: - Licensing authority: 

Licence produced on 21/01/2021 by Mrs Emma White Page 1 of 6 

Page 45

20035990_1
Text Box
Appendix B



Licence produced on 21/01/2021 by Mrs Emma White Page 2 of 6 

Page 46



Licence produced on 21/01/2021 by Mrs Emma White Page 3 of 6

Annex 1 – Mandatory Conditions

 1. Only individuals licensed by the Security Industry Authority may be used at the premises to 
guard against:-

a. unauthorised access or occupation (e.g. through door supervision), or 
b. outbreaks of disorder, or
c. damage

 2. No supply of alcohol may be made under this licence

a. At a time when there is no designated premises supervisor in respect of the premises 
licence, or

b. At a time when the designated premises supervisor does not hold a personal licence or 
his personal licence is suspended.

 3. Every supply of alcohol under the premises licence must be made or authorised by a person 
who holds a personal licence.

 4. The responsible person must ensure that staff on relevant premises do not carry out, arrange 
or participate in any irresponsible promotions in relation to the premises.

In this paragraph, an irresponsible promotion means any one or more of the following activities, 
or substantially similar activities, carried on for the purpose of encouraging the sale or supply of 
alcohol for consumption on the premises -

a. games or other activities which require or encourage, or are designed to require or
encourage individuals to -

i. drink a quantity of alcohol within a time limit (other than to drink alcohol sold or 
supplied on the premises before the cessation of the period in which the 
responsible person is authorised to sell or supply alcohol), or

ii. drink as much alcohol as possible (whether within a time limit or otherwise);

b. provision of unlimited or unspecified quantities of alcohol free or for a fixed or 
discounted fee to the public or to a group defined by a particular characteristic in a 
manner which carries a significant risk of undermining a licensing objective;

c. provision of free or discounted alcohol or any other thing as a prize to encourage or 
reward the purchase and consumption of alcohol over a period of 24 hours or less in a 
manner which carries a significant risk of undermining a licensing objective;

d. selling or supplying alcohol in association with promotional posters or flyers on, or in the 
vicinity of, the premises which can reasonably be considered to condone, encourage or 
glamorize anti-social behaviour or to refer to the effects of drunkenness in any 
favourable manner.

e. dispensing alcohol directly by one person into the mouth of another (other than where 
that other person is unable to drink without assistance by reason of disability).

 5. The responsible person must ensure that free potable water is provided on request to 
customers where it is reasonably available.

 6. The premises licence holder or club premises certificate holder must ensure that an age 
verification policy is adopted in respect of the premises in relation to the sale or supply of 
alcohol.

Page 47



Licence produced on 21/01/2021 by Mrs Emma White Page 4 of 6

The designated premises supervisor in relation to the premises licence must ensure that the 
supply of alcohol at the premises is carried on in accordance with the age verification policy.

The policy must require individuals who appear to the responsible person to be under 18 years 
of age (or such older age as may be specified in the policy) to produce on request, before being 
served alcohol, identification bearing their photograph, date or birth and either -

a. a holographic mark, or

b. an ultraviolet feature.

 7. The responsible person must ensure that -

a. where any of the following alcoholic drinks is sold or supplied for consumption on the 
premises (other than alcoholic drinks sold or supplied having been made up in advance 
ready for sale or supply in a securely closed container) it is available to customers in the 
following measures:

i. beer or cider: ½ pint;
ii. gin, rum, vodka or whisky: 25 ml or 35 ml; and
iii. still wine in a glass: 125 ml;

b. these measures are displayed in a menu; price list or other printed material which is 
available to customers on the premises; and

c. where a customer does not in relation to a sale of alcohol specify the quantity of alcohol 
to be sold, the customer is made aware that these measures are available.

 8. A relevant person shall ensure that no alcohol is sold or supplied for consumption on or off the 
premises for a price which is less than the permitted price.

For the purposes of the condition set out in paragraph 1 of this condition -

a. "duty" is to be construed in accordance with the Alcoholic Liquor Duties Act 1979;

b. "permitted price" is the price found by applying the formula P = D + (D×V) where - 
i. P is the permitted price,
ii. D is the amount of duty chargeable in relation to the alcohol as if the duty 

were charged on the date of the sale or supply of the alcohol, and
iii. V is the rate of value added tax chargeable in relation to the alcohol as if the

value added tax were charged on the date of the sale or supply of the alcohol;

c. "relevant person" means, in relation to premises in respect of which there is in force a 
premises licence -
i. the holder of the premises licence,
ii. the designated premises supervisor (if any) in respect of such a licence, or
iii. the personal licence holder who makes or authorises a supply of alcohol under 

such a licence;

d. "relevant person" means, in relation to premises in respect of which there is in force a 
club premises certificate, any member or officer of the club present on the premises 
in a capacity which enables the member or officer to prevent the supply in question; 
and

e. "value added tax" mean value added tax charged in accordance with the Value Added 
Tax Act 1994.

Where the permitted price given by Paragraph (b) of paragraph 2 would (apart from this 
paragraph) not be a whole number of pennies, the price given by that sub-paragraph shall be 
taken to be the price actually given by that sub-paragraph rounded up to the nearest penny.

Page 48



Licence produced on 21/01/2021 by Mrs Emma White Page 5 of 6

(1) Sub-paragraph (2) applies where the permitted price given by Paragraph (b) of 
paragraph 2 on a day ("the first day") would be different from the permitted price on 
the next day ("the second day") as a result of a change to the rate of duty or value 
added tax.

(2) The permitted price which would apply on the first day applies to sales or supplies of 
alcohol which take place before the expiry of the period of 14 days beginning on the 
second day.

Annex 2 – Conditions consistent with the operating schedule

General – All four licensing objectives

 9. The Premises is a small, food led cafe and tapas restaurant.

10. The premises intends to only operate before midnight.

11. The Premises is not alcohol led.

12. The premises is a food-led operation and will operate with waiter/waitress service.

13. The premises will operate with a minimum of 50 covers.

The prevention of crime and disorder

14. A suitable Closed Circuit Television (CCTV) system will be operational at the premises at all 
times when licensable activities are being carried out and at any other times where members of 
the public are present on the premises.

15. The CCTV system will contain the correct time and date stamp information.

16. The CCTV system will have sufficient storage retention capacity for a minimum of 31 days' 
continuous footage, which will be of good quality.

17. A designated member/members of staff at the premises will be authorised to access the CCTV 
footage and be conversant with operating the CCTV system. At the request of an authorised 
officer of the Licensing Authority or a Responsible Authority (under the Licensing Act 2003) any 
CCTV footage. as requested, will be downloaded immediately or secured to prevent any 
overwriting. The CCTV footage material will be supplied, on request, to an authorise officer of 
the Licensing Authority or a Responsible Authority.

18. The Premises Licence Holder/Designated Premises Supervisor will ensure than an Incident 
Report Register is maintained on the premises to record incidents such as anti-social behaviour, 
admissions refusals and ejections from the premises.

19. The Incident Report Register will contain consecutively numbered pages, the date time and 
location of the incident, details of the nature of the incident, the names and registration 
numbers of any door staff involved (if applicable) or to whom the incident was reported, the 
names and numbers of any police officers attending, the police incident and /or crime number, 
names and addresses of any witnesses and confirmation of whether there is CCTV footage of 
the incident.

20. The Incident Report Register will be produced for inspection immediately on the request of a 
police officer or an authorised officer of Leeds City Council.

Public Safety

21. A designated health and safety officer will be appointed by the Premises Licence Holder.

Page 49



Licence produced on 21/01/2021 by Mrs Emma White Page 6 of 6

22. The Premises Licence Holder/Designated Premises Supervisor will ensure than an Accident Book 
is maintained on the premises to record incidents such as anti-social behaviour, admissions 
refusals and ejections from the premises.

The prevention of public nuisance

23. There will be no external speakers at the Premises.

Protection of children from harm

24. The premises will adopt a 'Challenge 25' policy. This means that if a customer purchasing 
alcohol appears to be under the age of 25, they will be asked for proof of their age, to prove 
that they are 18 years or older.

25. Under 18s will only be allowed on the premises when food is being served.

26. There will be no adult entertainment on the premises.

Annex 3 – Conditions attached after a hearing by the licensing authority

None

Annex 4 – Plans

The plans for these premises are as those submitted with the application. A copy of which is held by 
Leeds City Council licensing authority.

Page 50



T









 






 





 








  







 

 

 

  








 


Leeds General Infirmary

8

1

4

5
2

3

7

6

Civic Hall

El

STREET

PH

WESTGATE
THE HEADROW

Friends

Library

GREAT GEORGE STREET

Nurses Home

CALVERLEY

CA
LV

ER
LE

Y S
TR

EE
T

Museum
Leeds City

45

16
18

22

33

31

71

17

40

23
27

41

10 13

35
47

6563 61

97

20

21

26

42 44

12 14 15

73

19

59

28 24

75

43

74

25

6769

Phoenix House

36.6m
40.5m

41.8m
43.3m

39.3m

39.6m

42.7m

House

Nelson

Court

LB

FB

165

45a

131145161 125159167

17
a

143

Sta

Gardens

Ch
am

be
rs

SM

Sub Sta

Consort

DW

PC

Coverdale

Institute

OX
FO

RD
 R

OW

Alexander

St George House

The Town Hall

PORTLAND STREET

PARK STREET

OX
FO

RD
 PL

AC
E

Victoria House

Ox
for

d H
ou

se

SOUTH PARADE

Millennium SquareTH
OR

ES
BY

 PL
AC

E

Ox
for

d R
ow

Oxford Place

PARK SQUARE NORTH

PORTLAND GATE

Leeds Combined Court Centre

VICTORIA SQUARE

Mast

TCB

Leeds Beckett University

Falk

TCBs

1 to 12

(PW)

Posts

41 
to 

51

23 to 25

Statue

Shelter

169 to 185 147 to 157

Shelters

El Sub Sta

Car Park (below)

Aspect

War Memorial

BA
CK

 O
XF

OR
D 

PL
AC

E

ALEXANDER STREET

6

4

5

4

5 18
PH

5

22

15

TC
Bs

LB

19

23

1

Shelter

43

21

2

7

24

El Sub Sta

El Sub Sta

1

El Sub Sta

SM

65

5

17
Posts

4

8

31

2

PH

35

20

413

7

22

20

LB

El

26

PH

31

5

Po
sts

Popworld

The Hive

Wildcats

Be At One

Pixel Bar
San Lucas

Thai Edge

Rose Bowl

San Carlo

Sukhothai

Carpe Diem

Revolution

Civic Hall

Stockdales
Stockdales

Shenanigans

All Bar One

Flight Club

Costa Coffee

George HotelSenbo Sakura

Below Stairs

Almost Famous
Victoria Hotel

2 Oxford Place

Fettle Cafe Ltd

Leeds Town Hall

Town Hall Tavern

Victoria Gardens

Around The Clock

Around The Clock

Millennium Square
Taag Chain Limited

Iberica Restaurants

Behind The Town Hall

Leeds Central Library

Carriageworks Theatre

Red Chilli Restaurant

RMUK Salon And Day Spa

Veritas Ale & Wine Bar

Mr Foley's Cask Ale House

Stage Espresso And Brew Bar

Taag

Appendix C

On licence

Off licence

Late night
refreshment

Other

KeyThis map  is based up on the Ordinance Survey’s digital data with the 
p ermission of the Ordinance Survey on behalf of the controller of Her 
Majesty’s Stationary Office
© Unauthorised rep roduction infringes Crown Cop yright and 
may lead to p rosecution or civil p roceedings
Leeds City Council O.S. Licence No 1000019567
© Crown Cop yright all rights reserved Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



DocuSign Envelope ID: 33E13A84-E54E-4FAE-A5B9-5A1BCEA16E82 

IN THE MATTER OF A REVIEW OF A PREMISES LICENCE 

BE T W E E N: 

T AAG CHAIN LIMITED 

Respondent and Premises Licence Holder 

WEST YORKSHIRE POLICE 

Applicant and Responsible Authortiy 

LEEDS CITY COUNCIL 

Licensing Authority 

WITNESS STATEMENT OF MR TIJANI YESUFU 

WILL SAY 

AS FOLLOWS: 

Introduction 

1. I make this statement in support of Taag Chain Limited, ("the Premises Licence

Holder") in response to the application made by West Yorkshire Police ("WYP")

to review the Premises Licence at Taag Leeds, Unit 2B, St George House, 40

Great George Street, Leeds, LS1 3DL ("the Premises").

2. Attached is a bundle of documents which I shall refer to in this statement

marked "TY1".

Application to Transfer 

3. Prior to the submission of WYP's application to review the Premises Licence at

the Premises I, via my solicitor Ed Smith of Levi Solicitors LLP, 33 St Pauls

1 

Appendix D

Page 53



Page 54



Page 55



Page 56



Page 57



Page 58



Page 59



Page 60



Page 61



Page 62



Page 63



Page 64



Page 65



Page 66



Page 67



Page 68



Page 69



Page 70



Page 71



Page 72



Page 73



Tijani Yesufu 
 
Premises & Personal 
Licence Application 

Tijani Yesufu 
 
  
 
 
 

 

Monday 11th January 2021 

 

To whom it may concern, 

This is an open letter to all relevant parties that will be reviewing my premises and personal 
licence applications. In this letter, I will explain my concerns as to how and why I believe the 
police have created an erroneous personal and professional characterisation. At its core is a 
criminal profile based on a wrongful arrest in 2009 which had nothing to do with me nor did I 
actually observe the incident in question, and also a professional profile based on the police 
associating me with misdeeds at venues on a whole, rather than my specific mandate that 
involved hiring venues on specific dates. These venues have had their own issues due to 
how they chose to manage and run their events and thus incidents referred to have no 
relation to any of my events. My role at these events has been completely misunderstood as 
is evident from the representation issued to the licensing application. 

I will go on to provide details on both my personal and professional background, my 
relationship to Taag and also my future plans for the business and why this opportunity is of 
such importance to me. 

 

 

All of the issues mentioned in the OBJECTION from the police are of grave concern to me. 
This is my career and industry that I have dedicated the last ten years to.  

Please see in RED what the police stated in their OBJECTION and in BLACK my response 

On 5th January 2009 the proposed premises licence holder was arrested for attempt murder. 
The circumstances, taken from the Police National Computer, suggest this was gang related, 
connected to licensed premises and involved knife crime. Despite the fact that the proposed 
licence holder had no further action taken against him I have asked for further details of his 
involvement from Hertfordshire Police and await the result. 

Page 74



Whilst I understand the terms Attempted Murder and Gangs are used to raise flags with the 
police, I am extremely distressed that this has clearly been misrepresented. With regard to 
this incident, I was out in a bar close to where I grew up and there was a stabbing in the bar. 
This incident had absolutely nothing to do with me and I didn’t know the people involved, I 
was wrongfully arrested at home by the police as I had been seen at the bar. I fully 
cooperated and talked to the police with no solicitor present and was released within an hour 
because it was evident that I was unconnected and didn’t even see the incident. I believe it 
was a gang incident involving some London gangs.  

The use of the term ‘Gang’ is distressing to me as I have never been involved with a gang, I 
have never had any dealings with the police, I was back home for the holidays from 
university at the time of the incident and on a night out. I have no idea whether that incident 
was involved with the premises' licence as that was the only time I have ever been there and 
I was on a night out, I was not there in a professional manner. 

I remain extremely concerned that I can be wrongfully arrested and spoken to about an 
incident and it would even be on the police database when it was clearly incorrect. I haven't 
thought about this incident since that time (nearly 12 years ago) so this has all come as a 
shock to me.  

I am certain that Hertfordshire police will confirm all of the information above and it is 
extremely important to me that this mark is taken off my name. My statement to the police 
was provided and as I didn’t know the people involved, I faced no further action, I was told I 
may be called as a witness, but I was not summoned to court and this is the first I have 
heard of this case since. 

It is unconscionable to have the term ‘attempted murder and gangs’ associated with my 
name. I wasn’t involved in any way nor was I aware of it. I was questioned about the incident 
because I was seen on CCTV at the venue on the night. 

I worry that these trigger words have subsequently been conflated with other unfounded 
concerns to create an unpalatable profile on me which often happens when these words are 
left on a police database with no context and I will be taking further action to have this 
expunged. I have always followed the letter and spirit of the law in both a personal and 
professional capacity. I grew up in a family where nothing else would be acceptable, both of 
my parents are key workers, with my father practising as a GP and my mother being a 
deputy head of her secondary school. I personally haven’t lived in London or surrounding 
areas since I left for university in 2006 and I have gone on to get two degrees, one in politics 
& business management as well as a Masters’ degree in Marketing & Management. 

The proposed premises licence holder has been involved in the promoting and running of 
events at premises in Leeds, which include Norman Bar, 36, Call Lane, during 2018 to 2019. 
During this time West Yorkshire Police had serious concerns about violent crime connected 
with the venue involving the use of weapons. As a result of an incident of violent disorder at 
Norman Bar in 2019 the premises were subject of a summary review due to associated 
serious violent crime. 

Page 75



This is another matter that caused great concern. I am an external events promoter. I moved 
to Leeds in 2017 to expand my business after running events in Loughborough, a town I 
matriculated and subsequently resided after university to carry on in the entertainments 
sector. I have previously hired Norman bar for a limited number of ad-hoc events on a Friday 
over a short period of time. To my knowledge, there were never any incidents at my events. 

I have no connection to anyone at Norman bar (outside of the standard contractual 
engagement that related to hire of the venue for said events), neither were there any 
incidents or dealings with the police at any of my Friday events. I recollect a significant 
incident took place at Norman bar which was held on a Saturday and the venue was 
subsequently closed. I reiterate, this was not my event, I was not in any way affiliated with 
the event and did not attend the event. Along with everyone else, I learnt of the unfortunate 
incidents that occurred at the event on the local news. 

It is utterly unreasonable that because I hired a venue as an external promoter without 
incident at my events, that I am unjustly associated with any wrongdoings or associated with 
the people who run other events unrelated to me or to my business. In my 10-year career, I 
have organised and promoted hundreds of events at dozens of different venues. I am not 
accountable, and nor do I have no control over what occurs at a venue when others operate 
it. My role, within the scope of my own events, is primarily to book people into the venue in a 
safe and compliant manner for the purpose of their entertainment. Please be clear that I was 
a client of that venue for those specific events, I was not and have never been employed by 
Norman Bar nor have I had any involvement in the how the venue was run. 

I have sought out the previous manager of Norman Bar to ask them to provide a letter to 
confirm the dates that I worked with them for events and to also confirm the fact that I was 
never an employee of the bar or involved in its management. I strongly object to being 
associated with the reputation of Norman bar and any interventions they have had from the 
police or relevant authorities. I cannot be held responsible for their actions. My business as 
an events promoter is to create and build my own brands, and a part of this is to source 
venues that meet the requirements for each event.  I have always, and continue to, operate 
within the confines of the law, with the safety of all my patrons at the heart of my business.  

To add to this, the one incident I recall on a Friday was where an attendee to Norman Bar 
was allegedly sexually assaulted on her way home by a member of the public who wasn’t at 
Norman bar on the night in question. I was contacted by the police as a witness to this 
heinous crime, as I saw the victim leave the bar. I attended the police station and gave a full 
statement as to what I saw and was willing to go to court to give evidence.  

To provide some additional context, as an event promoter, part of my expertise is to spot a 
gap in the market, and I saw that Norman’s was struggling with patronage on Friday 
evenings. I designed a brand that would appeal to potential new Friday evening customers 
and brokered a business arrangement with them to bring in Friday evening business. My 
brand and promo team were centred around and targeted at students as they were the 
market I was familiar with in Leeds, not the usual customers Norman’s had on weekends. I 
believe that most of the issues at Norman Bar which led to their subsequent closure 
occurred on Saturday nights. On the days that housed my event (Friday evenings), my 

Page 76



responsibilities were limited to securing booked tickets. I had no say on who they let into the 
premises. The door & security team was hired by the venue, as is standard practice, and 
they decided who they let enter the building based on their own policies. I was not involved 
in the management of the venue on my event days or any other day they opened. 

Please see below the dates I had events at Norman Bar. 

Event name: Back When  

Friday 27th July 2018,  

Friday 31st August 2018 

Friday 28th September 2018 

Friday 1st February 2019 

Event name: Notion 

Friday 15th February 2019 

Friday 22nd February 2019 

Friday 1st March 2019 

Friday 8th March 2019 

Friday 15th March 2019 

Friday 22nd March 2019 

Friday 19th April 2019 

Friday 26th April 2019 

Friday 3rd May 2019 

Friday 10th May 2019 

Friday 17th May 2019 

The proposed licence holder is also associated with events which have run both at Taag, the 
venue for which he wishes to hold the licence, and other premises known as Mook in Leeds 
City Centre during the pandemic and Coronavirus Regulations. Both premises have had 
multiple interventions from Responsible Authorities due to breaches of the Regulations. 

Page 77



I have never organised an event at Mook. During the first national lockdown, I lost all income 
as the events industry grinded to a halt. I used this time to plan ideas for when we could start 
running events again. It was my initial plan to run an event there and did one social media 
post back in June to gain some social media relevance. The event has never come to fruition 
due to the COVID-19 pandemic restrictions around social distancing. The event I had 
planned was a full club night. I did not proceed with the event as I decided that it was not in 
the best interest of my customers considering the Covid-19 pandemic and the government 
guidelines. In the organisation of this event, I explored many venue hire options, including 
Mook, to host my event. I conducted some market research through social media to 
ascertain the feasibility of conducting an event at a number of bars and restaurants in the 
local area (Mook being one of many) and will clearly not be pursuing this. As with other 
venues in my local area, I have attended Mook in a personal capacity. However, I have no 
contractual business association with Mook. The police statement above clearly infers a 
connection between me, my events business and the interventions that have occurred with 
Mook which bear no semblance of reality.   

I must stress again, I am an external events promoter, I have no say in how any venues are 
operated, how the businesses are run, the people they employ or the policies they create. 
Please see attached a letter from the current General Manager of Mook who will 
confirm that I have never worked there or had any events there.  

This leads on to my involvement with Taag. From the start of my time booking tables at 
Taag, I raised my concerns internally and highlighted issues in how things were being run 
and voiced this concern to the management on many occasions. The opportunity has now 
presented itself to take control of the venue and operate things to my high standards and 
maintain and build on my impeachable and stellar reputation and past relationships with 
local law enforcement, the council and other business owners. 

In ten years of running events, I have never personally had any issues or negative dealings 
with either the police or local authorising councils. The bulk of my events over this period 
were in Loughborough (my alma mater) and I have historically worked closely with the police 
to ensure that events were safe and compliant as I ran events ranging from club nights, to 
multi venue events with over 3,000 people and large music events. Below I have provided 
the email addresses of the police officers I have dealt with in the past who I am sure 
will vouch for my events but more important the character of our engagement. 

 
 

The scope of my role at Taag was purely to use a brand to book tables at the venue on 
Saturdays and more recently Sundays. The management of Taag has never been within my 
remit of responsibility and I am not accountable for the management decisions and 
subsequent consequences as a result of the management decisions to date.  

Page 78



It is also very important that the pending license review at Taag is seen as a separate action 
to my personal applications as the incidents that have occurred there in the past were not 
under my stewardship and should have no bearing on my current personal applications. I am 
a separate business and personal entity to Taag management and have in fact only been 
familiar with the previous owners/management since July 2020. As per my events to date 
and in line with my past record in the hospitality industry, I plan on managing Taag fully in 
line with the government and local guidelines. Personally, and morally, I do not believe there 
is a grey area in adherence to the polices as the consequences are too great. As previously 
mentioned, my commitment is to host my customers in a safe and compliant manner, 
especially in the current Covid-19 pandemic environment. As also previously stated, I have 
immediate family who are frontline workers in the NHS and education system, and I know 
that there is no margin of error when it comes to the safety of the general public.  

I believe an issue that Taag has had has been a lack of clarity and clear communication with 
the police and council which is not the way I operate. I must further reinforce that the old 
ownership and management are totally removed from the business and I will be subletting 
the premises and running it personally with the help of other experienced parties. It is going 
to be a food led restaurant with our business model being based around pre-booked 
package brunch and supper sittings throughout the day & evenings. Taag is a restaurant and 
I do not intend to put on nightclub party event brands there or throw those type of events. 

In the short time since the opportunity to take over Taag presented itself, I have began 
planning how I would manage Taag and have taken every step to ensure we get off on the 
right foot with the licensing agencies. For example:-  

• I have employed a new door supervisory team who have run some of the biggest and
Covid-19 secure events since the beginning of the pandemic, and they have dealt
with the police and council and should thus be familiar to the police and council.

• The new supervisory team have provided an extra Covid risk assessment and
contacted the police to introduce themselves and we now have two independent
Covid risk assessments which will provide the basis of how we operate.

• I am hiring new staff who will all be suitably trained in all departments
• I contacted BACIL with the aim of joining the partnership against crime prevention in

Leeds
• I have ensured that the CCTV is fully operational and that all relevant staff will be

suitably trained on how to operate it
• I have rebranded the website and included clear Covid-19 guidelines so that people

are fully aware that they must follow the guidelines if they are entering the premises
or they will be asked to leave immediately.

As an entrepreneur, I have been waiting for an opportunity to take my business to the next 
level and to run my own venue. In addition to my academic background and work ethic that 
is based on my solid upbringing, I am experienced and respected in the industry.  I have 
worked my way through the industry from grassroots level as a glass collector in a bar, to 
handing out flyers, to working behind the bar and waitering, to selling tickets for events, to 
organising my own events in bars, to organising large scale music events and multi venue 

Page 79



events. My further education has also provided me with important knowledge on how to 
market and run a business. 

I believe in the importance of following the law, guidelines and polices which are put in place 
to provide safe entertainment for the public and to ensure that my own personal and 
business liability is protected. I have always fully cooperated with the police and local 
councils, fully following their advice on the safest ways to run my events. I have always 
collaborated with them to ensure that I answered all queries and adapted my plans in order 
to ensure that my events (within the scope of my responsibility) were compliant.  The issues 
raised in the police objection have only further motivated me to make my dream a reality 
because I cannot allow myself, my business or reputation to be further tarnished by the 
actions and decisions of others.  

There are therefore real concerns regarding both his past and present associations with both 
people and licensed premises which attract violent crime and regular interventions from the 
Responsible Authorities. 

Each of the issues raised above by the police above are of grave concern to me and I 
sincerely hope that a transparent and open discussion between me and the police can get to 
the bottom of the statements which absolutely incorrectly associate me with criminal activity. 
I refuse to be incorrectly portrayed as a criminal by the police because of a wrongful arrest 
nor will I allow my credibility to be impugned when I have demonstrable evidence of an 
events portfolio with excellent practices and relationships in this industry. I have shown 
myself to be a responsible member of the public and a reputable businessperson. 

I implore the police to provide evidential clarity on what is meant by my alleged associations 
with people involved in crime because I do not, and have never, associated myself 
professionally or personally with anyone involved in crime. The fact that I have hired venues 
where the management or owners may have been involved with the relevant authorities 
outside of my sphere of involvement, responsibility or accountability does not mean that I 
can be tarnished with the same brush or portrayed as a criminal. I therefore seek further 
clarification on the basis of this statement and if the same assumption would be made, and 
has been made, of all other external promoters with no criminal record, who have worked 
with any of the aforementioned venues.  

As stated at the beginning of this letter this point is of the utmost importance to me because 
my personal reputation, my long standing and solid business reputation and my future 
business and livelihood in this industry is at stake.  Added to this, the very idea that the 
police or council may have this impression of me is extremely disturbing, especially as it is 
based on conjecture, weak associations and incorrect statements and completely misaligned 
with my moral standing and consequent actions. I have never given the authorities any need 
to be concerned about my personal or business dealings and have in fact been working to 
plan the future in this industry completely unaware of this inaccurate and disturbing false 
associations to me and my business.  

I am extremely passionate about the hospitality industry and the role it can have in helping 
the local community by offering jobs, a safe space for entertainment as well as the benefits it 

Page 80



can have for people’s mental health. I am also passionate about being part of the solution of 
getting this industry back on its feet both during and after the Covid-19 pandemic and 
believe that my experience and willingness to work with the relevant authorities can only be 
beneficial to the industry in Leeds. 

Please see attached a number of documents including character references from venues 
that I have worked with previously. I have also contacted Leicestershire police to see if they 
can provide you with any information you may need about my professional history and 
reputation. 

I look forward to discussing the detail of this letter and the police statement in more detail. 

 

Yours faithfully, 

Tijani Yesufu  

MSc in Marketing & Management (De Montfort University) 

BA (hons) Politics & Business Management (Loughborough University) 

 

Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



Page 88



Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



Page 95



Page 96



Page 97



Page 98



Page 99



Page 100



Page 101



Page 102



Page 103



Page 104



Page 105



Page 106



Page 107



Page 108



Page 109



Page 110



Page 111



Page 112



Page 113



Page 114



Page 115



Page 116



Page 117



Page 118



Page 119



Page 120



Page 121



Page 122



Page 123



Page 124



Page 125



Page 126



Page 127



Page 128



Page 129



Page 130



Page 131



Page 132



Page 133



Page 134



Page 135



Page 136



Page 137



Page 138



Page 139



Page 140



Page 141



Page 142



Page 143



Page 144



Page 145



Page 146



Page 147



Page 148



Page 149



Page 150



Page 151



Page 152



Page 153



Page 154



Page 155



Page 156



Page 157



Page 158



Page 159



Page 160



Page 161



Page 162



Page 163



Page 164



Page 165



Page 166



Page 167



Page 168



Page 169



Page 170



Page 171



Page 172



Page 173



Page 174



Page 175



Page 176



Page 177



Page 178



www.leeds.gov.uk General Enquiries:  0113 222 4444 

Entertainment Licensing 
Leeds City Council 
Civic Hall 
Leeds 
LS1 1UR 

Elections and Regulatory Services 
Civic Hall 
Leeds   LS1 1UR 

Contact:  Zoe Carter 
Tel:     

Date:  23 December 2020 

Dear Sirs/Madam, 

REVIEW APPLICATION UNDER THE LICENSING ACT 2003 
PREMISES: TAAG, Unit 2B St George House, 40 Great George Street, Leeds, 
LS1 3DL 

Please accept this formal representation by an officer on behalf of the Environmental Protection 
Team (EP). I am the Environmental Health Officer with Leeds City Council’s Environmental 
Health Section. 

My duties include investigating complaints for premises contrary to The Health Protect 
(Coronavirus) Regulations 2020. 

On the 04th July 2020 The day businesses could reopen, Licensing team reported a visit to 
Taag where they witnessed Music and Dancing.  

I spoke to the licensing officer who had visited and they advised that music could be heard from 
the street and people were seen dancing and not social distancing. They advised they spoke to 
Mr Taaghobi and instructed him to implement Covid Safety measures.  

I rang Mr Taaghobi to discuss the complaint received and Mr Taaghobi told me that his 
experience was much different and that he believed Licensing were happy with what they found. 
I advised Mr Taaghobi of a few measures he needed to implement; Drinks are to be served at 
tables and customers should remain seated unless to go to the bathroom or exit, staff and 
customers were to wear masks if not sat down, music was to be at background level which 
means you should be able to have a normal conversation without one having to raise their 
voice, dancing was prohibited and I advised Mr Taaghobi that Taag would be monitored.  

Mr Taaghobi advised me that he and his staff found it difficult to manage customers and enforce 
covid rules once his customers had had a drink. I advised him that it is his responsibility as the 
owner to ensure the safety in his venue by implementing these and that if he wants to continue 
opening he has to begin enforcing it.  

On the 12th August 2020 Social media videos were brought to our attention and EP team raised 
another Service Request (SR). The videos showed dancing amongst customers and staff and 
no social distancing occurring. A Colleague, Philip Jackson made contact with Mr Taaghobi via 

Appendix E

Page 179



email. On 18th August, Mr Taaghobi emailed Mr Jackson advising that the complaint was false 
and listed all the measures he had in place. These measures were extensive and correct under 
the Covid guidelines available at the time. Mr Jackson then spoke to Mr Taaghobi where he 
said he would “Stress importance to my staff regarding the volume control of music levels to 
make sure we go above and beyond as a venue, to prevent the spread of Covid”.  

On the 18th September 2020 a customer of Taag made the following complaint that was 
forwarded to EP Team: 

Complainant and 5 friends attended Taag at 19:30 for a Bottomless Brunch. When they arrived 
the music was extremely loud, so much so that they literally had to shout to hear each other. 
They were given a small table, like a booth that was only suitable for a table of 4 but they had 
booked for 6. They had to sit like sardines next to each 
other. None of the staff were wearing any PPE. When the waitress came round to fill up drinks 
she would touch the rim of the Prosecco bottle to the rim of the glass – this bottle was used for 
all the different groups in the venue so there is concern that the bottles weren’t ‘table specific’. 
Only 1 person could use the toilet at any one time – but the DJ is stationed right next to it so 
customers had to pass very close to him. The complainant says they felt very uncomfortable 
and unsafe and asked to leave within 15 minutes of arriving. 

This complaint was also supported by continuous reports from West Yorkshire Police that on 
26th and 27th September 2020, Customers of Taag had been witnessed again dancing on tables 
and having no social distancing measures in place.  

In light on of the continuous complaints and converstaions with Mr Taaghobi my colleague Karl 
Sheldon and I made a site visit on 02nd October 2020. On arrival to Great George Street, we 
could hear the music from Taag on the cross roads at the end of the street. We entered and 
saw that everyone was seated and staff were wearing masks. Mr Taaghobi was in, drinking with 
a friend and so we spoke to both Mr Taaghobi and the DJ advising the music was too loud and 
shouldn’t be heard from outside. I discussed that a number of agencies had had a lot of 
involvement with Taag and that if it conituned formal action may be taken. He was cooperative 
and immediately turned the music down, reassuring us that he would keep it there and that he 
was trying to adhere to government Covid guidance. 

On the 08th October 2020, 5 days after Mr Sheldon and I had been to site and Mr Taaghobi 
discussed the measures he had in place, West Yorkshire Police report that they had witnessed 
a student event at Taag and that there were 40+ people there. Whilst the shutters were down 
and by the time they were raised everyone was seated, to hold an event was a breach of 
regulations.  

We received a further complaint on the 10th October from another customer of Taag: 
Date of incident: 10/10/2020  
Timeframe of incident: Between 6pm - 8pm Details of incident:  
I was there to celebrate a friend's birthday with 5 others.  
1) Not all members of staff were wearing a mask correctly i.e. below the nose and/or taking the
mask off to speak
2) Too many people in a very small venue - lack of social distancing
3) Each new round of drinks were brought out in dirty and already used glasses i.e. lipstick
stains round the rim of the glass
4) Inconsistent rules for different guests i.e. at the start 2 guests were told off for standing up
and dancing however as time went on they did it again and were not told off.
There was a very large group in the corner of the room where there were a lot of people coming
and going, standing and dancing and it was allowed
5) We are a table of 6 but was really a table for 4 people and felt the venue were just trying to
cram is as many people as they could

Page 180



6) People were often not wearing masks i.e. waiting in line for toilet and members of staff. Some
people were told to wear masks and other people weren't.
7) Often multiple people going into a single toilet. At the venue there was a total of 2 single
toilets.
8) We saw guests hugging and dancing with the waitresses

14th October 2020 EP and Public Health served a direction order on Mr Taaghobi, ordering 
Taag to close between the hours of 18.00- 07.00 and there to be no celebratory gatherings. The 
direction order was served for 28days and was reviewed every 7 days.  

In conclusion, Mr Taaghobi has on a number of occasions explained what measures he 
supposedly has in place and shows that he is aware of what is expected of him. The continuous 
videos and complaints evidence that he does not care to implement them. Mr Taaghobi has 
repeatedly breached Covid regulations and has taken advantage of the councils approach to 
support businesses through this difficult time rather than use enforcement. Mr Taaghobi has 
taken no precautions to protect himself, his staff or his customers from the public health risks 
posed by Covid-19.  

In view of the issues referred to, and the failure of Mr Taaghobi to operate responsibly and in 
safe manner in light of the Coronavirus Pandemic, I support the review and also ask that the 
committee revoke this premises license.  
Yours faithfully 

Zoe Carter 
Environmental Health Officer 
Environmental Protection  

Page 181



This page is intentionally left blank



Entertainment Licensing 
Leeds City Council 
Civic Hall 
Leeds 
LS1 1UR 

Dear Sirs/Madam, 

Appendix F 

Leeds 
CITY COUNCIL 

Elections and Regulatory Services 

Civic Hall 
Leeds LS1 1 UR 

Our Ref: A80/CB/LIC/PREM/04360/002 
Your Ref: 
Contact: Carmel Brennand 
Tel: 

Date: 19 January 2021 

REVIEW APPLICATION UNDER THE LICENSING ACT 2003 

PREMISES: TAAG, UNIT 28, ST GEORGE HOUSE, GREAT GEORGE 

STREET,LEEDS,LS13DL 

Please accept this formal representation by an officer on behalf of the Licensing Authority. As a 
Senior Liaison & Enforcement Officer with Leeds City Council's Entertainment Licensing 

Section, my duties include investigating complaints for licensed/unlicensed premises contrary to 
the Licensing Act 2003. 

Prior to May 2019 Unit 2B traded as Colby's Coffee House. In June 2019 an application was 
received from Taag Chain Limited for a new Premises Licence for a food led cafe & tapas 
restaurant with the retail sale of alcohol 1200 to 2300 everyday, closing at 2330. Premises 
Licence PREM/04360 was granted with effect from 10 July 2019 with Thomas Leyshon 
specified as the Designated Premises Supervisor (DPS). 

On the 1st August 2019 this section received the following complaint-

Complainant who is 22 years old went to Taag with her little sister who is 18. They went to the 

premise around 3:00pm and stayed until 3:30pm. At this time there was no security or door staff 
to ID them, when they were ID'd in other premises close by. 

She wants to raise her concerns/complaint that while in the establishment there were around 
415 people (at different tables) who looked as they were very young. Underage in fact. 

She would like someone to look into this and see if it is reasonable for them and other younger 

people to be let into a premise without being asked to identify themselves to be of legal age. 

The complaint was allocated to my colleague Mr Michael Waters. He attended at the premises 
on the 5th August to hand deliver a warning letter addressed to the DPS. The warning letter 
reminded the DPS of the specific condition 24 on the licence which states 'The premises will 
adopt a 'Challenge 25' policy. This means that if a customer purchasing alcohol appears to be 

(-) 
�---

-:: 

www.leeds.gov.uk General Enquiries: 0113 222 4444 Dl\l'J!�TOR IX PP.Ol'r.P. 

Page 183



   
 

under the age of 25, they will be asked for proof of their age, to prove that they are 18 years or 
older. 
 
Mr Waters met the manager Neda Slouklouie, gave her the letter and discussed the complaint. 
Ms Slouklouie denied the allegation that checks were not being done. 
 
On the 4th July 2020 licensed premises were allowed to reopen with restrictions.  
 
I was working with colleagues from several council departments in the city centre conducting 
reassurance and advisory visits to hospitality venues. 
 
At 2050 hrs Samantha Longfellow-Peniket and I were returning to the Civic Hall and walked 
across the road from the rear of the Town Hall towards Taag, Unit 2b, Great George Street, LS1 
3DL. We could see that it was very busy inside the bar and we could hear the music from 
outside.  We noted the young male stood to the right of the entrance door and asked if he was 
working as doorstaff to which he replied that he was. Advised him that he should be displaying 
his SIA badge. Marc Hosie, who I believe to be the person in charge came out to speak to us.  
We explained that we were in the city checking that venues were operating in line with the 
government regulations. On mentioning that it looked busy inside, Marc stated that everyone 
was socially distanced and that all the customers had pre booked. He was advised to ask the 
DJ to turn the music down as if we could hear it outside it was definitely too loud inside. We 
explained that if people were having to shout over loud music, there was an increased risk of 
aerial transmission of the disease. We also raised concern over a number of young females 
dancing in the lobby area just in front of the bar. Marc said they weren't dancing but posing for 
photographs. We reiterated that this was against government regulations in that customers 
should be seated. During our conversation the door staff's boss Dan Cheney arrived. He was 
also conducting checks around the city centre, mainly on his staff. We reminded him that his 
door staff should be displaying their badges so that visible to the public especially as whilst we 
were talking, the doorman had buttoned his coat up so that it wasn't on view again. 
 
On the 17th July 2020 an application was received to replace Thomas Leyshon with Azam 
Omidvari, Mr Taaghobi’s mother, as the DPS. The new licence PREM/04360/002 was issued 
with effect from 11th August 2020. 
 
On Sunday 27th September 2020 my daughter’s friends sent her videos from Taag and another 
city centre premises who were now offering their Sunday bottomless brunches as ’party time’. I 
watched the videos which showed customers up and dancing to very loud music, not wearing 
any face coverings. When I asked my daughter if she could send me the videos, she could not 
as they disappear after 24 hours. 
 
Due to the number of issues at the premises with repeated advice from agencies and police 
visits and a Direction Order being served, a meeting was arranged with Mr Taaghobi and his 
solicitor for 2 pm on Wednesday 28th October 2020. 
 
I attended at the premises in company with PC Cath Arkle as the city centre Licensing Officer  
and Ruth Turner, the Team Manager at Environmental Health. Also in attendance were Ed 
Smith, Mr Taaghobi’s Solicitor, Jess Mann, the new manager, Alan Bradley, a Health & Safety 
advisor. Mr Arian Taaghohi joined the meeting by video/zoom. PC Arkle suggested she would 
start with issues from West Yorkshire Police, then to go to Ruth and then Ed.  PC Arkle started 
with the reopening on the 4th July when officers had to speak to staff on site and again on 11th 
July when PS Kirwan attended. There were 5 more complaints about bottomless brunches, then 
a party on the 7th October where PS Kirwan attended a student event where the shutter was 
closed. There were 50 odd people inside, very loud music and the organiser had been arrested 
for Drunk & Disorderly. PC Arkle continued that on the 9th October there had been a serious 
incident elsewhere in the city but the people involved had met at Taag earlier. When CID took 

Page 184



hard drive, the imaging officer said it looked brand new. PC Arkle asked where the original hard 
drive was stating that it was a major issue if the cctv has not been working since 4th July. 

Mr Taaghobi joined the meeting and stated that everything had been ok on the 4th July; 2 
female officers had attended, had been inside and were happy with everything. I interrupted and 
said that I was one of the officers and we did not go inside. We had crossed the road as we 
could hear the music from there. It was very busy inside and we had spoken to Marc Hosier 
outside and told him to tell the DJ to turn the music down and to stop the girls dancing. The 
doorstaff did not have his badge on display. I was not happy at all. 

Mr Taaghobi went on to say that the Council had rung. Ruth Turner explained that Zoe Carter, a 
Senior Technical Officer, had phoned and visited on the 2nd October and found music too loud. 
Mr Taaghobi has been spoken to on a number of occasions regarding loud music, social 
distancing but still continue to get complaints. Ruth said, ‘Zoe & Carl spoke to you on the 2nd 
and then there is an incident on the 7th.   

When Mr Taaghobi replied that he had sacked those managers, Ruth Turner said, ‘It is your 
business, therefore your responsibility. I'm not confident in Mr Taaghobi. From the 4th July the 
Government has said you must have a risk assessment. I am concerned that you do not 
understand’. 

Mr Ed Smith, Mr Taaghobi’s solicitor advised that have conducted a review and as a result Mr 
Taaghobi has employed Alan Bradley to do a risk assessment on the business and a specific 
COVID risk assessment. We then had a discussion on the DJ table & speakers, where they 
were and removing other tables to ensure the correct social distancing. We then moved on to 
the cctv. Mr Smith said that cctv had not been recording, but it was now. PC Arkle said she was 
not impressed that they have been open since 4th July with no cctv. 

I asked if I could look at the cctv. Mr Taaghobi stated he didn’t know how to operate but will get 
the engineer to teach him and then he will teach Jess. I said this was not good enough and 
asked Mr Taaghobi if he could call the engineer now to attend whilst we were there so that I 
could confirm it was working. Whilst he went to ring the engineer Jess showed me the written 
authorisation signed by Azam Omidvari for the sale of alcohol. I noted there were no proof of 
age posters. Mr Taaghobi advised that the cctv engineer wouldn’t be able to attend this 
afternoon. 

Jess and I went to look at the cctv which was in the ceiling void above the kitchen. We had to go 
up loft ladders and Jess had to lie over a metal cooking tray shelf to operate the mouse. It was 
clear the system was password protected so Jess rang engineer for the password but he 
couldn’t supply it. I noted there were12 cameras but the system was an hour out. I advised that 
the location of the cctv monitor was not ideal or safe for both staff an officers who may need 
access to it and suggested the monitor in the store cupboard at side of bar may be more 
suitable than where it is. The solicitor Mr Smith acknowledged my concerns and confirmed the  
bar would not open unless the cctv was working. Also that he will get the Risk Assessments to 
us on Thursday; if he can persuade Cath and Ruth not to take further action.  

We had a discussion on the venue opening at the weekend. I went through the premises licence 
and asked to see the Door Staff Register and Incident Register. There were no incidents 
recorded at all which is very unusual. I then looked at the Door Staff Register. The last time a 
member of door staff had signed in the register was the 3rd October. There was however loose 
leaf sheets in the file where door staff had recorded times on duty; presumably for pay. I 
explained that the Door Staff Register was not compliant. The Register should be a bound book 
not loose leaf. Every shift the member of door staff should sign in with the date, time starting on 
duty, their signature and SIA badge number and not until they are finishing their shift, the sign 
off time. I advised that both registers should be available on site and saved for a 12 month 
period. 

Page 185



I asked when they were last open. When the solicitor said last weekend I was not happy and 
made it quite clear that if they had been open yesterday I would be issuing a Section 19 Closure 
Notice in respect of the breaches of conditions relating to the cctv and the registers. Mr Smith 
gave Jess the Part A of the Premises Licence. I told her if she is in charge she needs to sit 
down and read all the conditions on Part A as in order to sell alcohol, all the conditions need to 
be complied with. I explained that if there is a breach of 1 or more of the conditions then 
potentially she would be committing offences under Section 136 of the Licensing Act and if 
found guilty at court could be an unlimited fine and/or 6 months imprisonment; that’s how 
serious it is. I told her that if she is going on a personal licence course, she will be a step ahead 
with all the information I was giving her. I completed the inspection sheet with a codicil that the 
issues had to be rectified by 30th October.  Mr Smith looked over it before giving it to Jess to 
sign. I gave them my business card and told them I wanted a screenshot of the cctv working 
before the weekend. 

On Friday 30th October Mr Smith supplied us with the business risk assessment and the COVID 
19 specific risk assessment. He also emailed me a screenshot of the cctv showing 1329 hrs on 
the 17th October which had been requested so the venue could open. 

I do not have any confidence in Mr Taaghobi operating this venue nor in his instructions to his 
staff in their duties and responsibilities under legislation. It is clear that Premises Licence 
conditions have not been complied with since opening.  

Mr Taaghobi knew that there had been numerous police visits to his premises due to serious 
incidents. There had been engagement with him and his staff from several responsible 
authorities, one of whom served an enforcement notice. His solicitor Mr Smith is dealing with 
this and a meeting is requested by agencies on site and still there are issues. The cctv is not 
working and important paperwork is not in order. This shows either Mr Taaghobi’s complete 
lackadaisical approach to running a licensed premises or complete disrespect/disregard to the 
responsible authorities and the law. 

In view of the issues referred to, and the failure of Mr Taaghobi to operate responsibly under the 
Licensing Act in upholding the licensing objectives; the prevention of crime and disorder, public 
safety and the prevention of public nuisance as well as his blatant disregard of the 
government’s Covid 19 restrictions I would respectfully ask that the Committee determine to 
revoke the Premises Licence held by him. 

Yours faithfully 

Mrs Carmel Brennand 
Senior Liaison & Enforcement Officer 
Entertainment Licensing 

Page 186



From:
Entertainment Licensing

Date: 16 January 2021 19:32:27

To Whom it may concern,

Whilst passing a venue in Leeds City Centre recently I became aware of a notice on its wall stating that you are
reviewing its premises licence. I was alarmed by some of the things that were written on the notice and thought
I would send in my thoughts on the business.

On the occasions that I have visited Taag, I have never had any reason to doubt its safety or the measures that
were in place. I work as a teacher in a secondary school so corona virus protocols are a subject with which I am
very familiar. More notably how hard they are to enforce.

Whilst it wasn't perfect, it was as close to a safe environment that one could expect going out for food in these
uncertain times. The service was good, everything was explained to us and we were given constant reminders of
what is expected of us throughout our visit.

Taag is a very small venue and the staff appeared to be working hard to make sure that everyone was having a
good time whilst making sure we were safe. We complained that another table were not always sat where they
should be and they immediately took action and made sure they complied with the rules. It is a venue I have
recommended to my friends and have been looking forward to visiting once hospitality re-opens again.  As a
key worker, these type of venues that provide a level of safe normality are much needed and an asset to Leeds
and those of us who like to have a fun yet very safe experience.

I look forward to following the outcome of this review.

Please feel free to contact me if you need any more details.

Sent from my iPhone
Please note that whilst this e-mail and any attachments originate from The Brooksbank School, the views
expressed may not necessarily represent the views of The Brooksbank School. This e-mail and any attachments
may contain information that is privileged, confidential or otherwise protected from disclosure. They must not
be used by, or copied or disclosed to persons other than the intended recipient. Any liability (in negligence or
otherwise) arising from any third party acting, or refraining from acting, on any information contained in this e-
mail is excluded. If you have received this e-mail in error please inform the sender and delete the e-mail. We
support staff welfare and workload and so any emails received outside the hours of 8.00am - 6.00pm may not be
answered or responded to until the next working day.

Appendix G

Page 187



From:
To: Entertainment Licensing
Subject: Taag licence review
Date: 16 January 2021 11:36:56

To whom it may concern,
 
I have recently been made aware of a pending license review for Taag in Leeds. From personal
experience, I was particularly impressed by the way the management and staff strictly
maintained the Covid-19 related guidelines while still fostering a great atmosphere, so would like
to provide a reference in support of the venue.
 
Having visited the premises in August of last year, I was impressed by the controlled atmosphere
in the venue. While everyone was sitting down, it was particularly noted how well the staff
managed to keep the atmosphere while also sticking within the rules. Rules including mask
wearing, no dancing and staying sat at your own table, which were communicated at the time of
booking and again clearly reiterated on arrival at the venue. As such, throughout my time at the
venue I was encouraged that everything had been done to ensure I hadn’t been put at risk of
exposure to the virus.
 
I would also like to stress the need for venues of this kind for the sake of people’s mental health.
Having had first-hand experience of the effect mental health issues can have, it is clear that the
past year has exacerbated this for a large number of people. A venue that adheres to the
guidelines while giving people the social interaction they need is hugely valuable and Taag in
Leeds is one of those venues that, in my experience, was managing to do a great job providing
exactly that.
 
If you need any more information from me please do not hesitate to get in touch and I hope the
above goes some way to providing some context for the type of venue Taag is and the way it is
being managed.
 
Kind regards,
 

 
 
 

Page 188



From:
Entertainment Licensing

Subject: Licence Review of Taag Leeds
Date: 17 January 2021 20:34:07

Dear Sir/Madam,

I have recently been made aware that there is a pending licence review on Taag in Leeds.

I am both shocked and saddened by this news as I have frequented Taag on 3 occasions and have nothing but
praise for the venue and the staff.

I first visited Taag on 22/08/2020 which was not long after the first lockdown ended and there wasn’t a tier
system in place. I attended with my family and close family friends in a group of 9 (this was permitted by
government guidelines at the time) and this was our first group outing for a brunch since covid hit. We were all
extremely impressed by the venue; it wasn’t crammed to capacity, tables were spread as evenly as possible,
staff could easily access all tables in order to serve drinks & the food, 2m rule, and there was hand sanitiser
upon entry which was mandatory every time you left and re-entered the premises and also a bottle on each table
which we thought was a nice touch given the circumstances.
The atmosphere was great and the other customers were all very pleasant and well behaved with regards to
alcohol consumption.

The impact of not being able to go out and socialise in a restaurant/bar had not really been felt by myself until
we were able to actually go out and experience it again. The impact on my mental health was so positive;
knowing I could go to a place that I felt safe, looked after and could still enjoy myself.

Therefore I visited Taag for the second time, the week after on the 29/08/2020 for the brunch again. The
experience was pretty much the same as I have described as above. Staff were very conscious of people sticking
to the guidelines and safety measures put in place such as the 2 m rule when queueing for the toilet, no mixing
tables or dancing around the venue. Again, this was a great atmosphere, felt completely at ease and safe whilst
still being able to socialise and enjoy myself.

The third time I attend Taag was 09/10/2020 for the evening supper slot. The government guidelines had
changed since I had previously visited and so had Taag. There were stricter safety measures in place which was
great to see as it definitely put us at ease. The extra measures included masks having to be worn to enter and
could only be removed once you were seated, they also had to be worn when you visited the toilet. Staff had
masks on at all
times, there were hand outs explaining the rules and the track and trace app information. Again, it was a great
atmosphere and everyone complied with the rules. If anyone didn’t, staff and security were quick to address the
person/people and control the situation. This was mainly people standing up and dancing at their table once
they’d consumed alcohol but staff had already explained upon entry that this wasn’t permitted.

Each time I visited Taag and it came to the end of the session, either in the afternoon or at 10pm as per
government guidelines the staff were great. They tried to discourage people from congregating outside and
leaving Taag was very controlled despite staff having to deal with people that had consumed alcohol. I or
anyone who I attended Taag with, never left worrying thinking they may have been exposed to the virus, we felt
completely safe when there and I thoroughly enjoyed the time I spent there.

Coronavirus has taken many things away from people over this past year and one of the things is to be able to
socialise. I myself could see how hard the staff members at Taag had worked to implement the ever changing
government guidelines but still allow their customers to have a great experience and I believe they managed to
do this safely and more than adequately. Taag is a premises that appeals to all ages, the music is a niche for the
bar/night life scene of Leeds and I believe it would be a great loss to the hospitality sector.

I currently work in the Home Office as a civil servant and am expected to go into my covid secure office which
is no different to the safety measures that were put in place at Taag. The hospitality sector have taken a huge hit
during these unprecedented times as it is and I strongly believe that this venue should be able to keep its licence.
It’s is a well run establishment, and would be a massive loss to the Leeds social scene.

Page 189



Thank you for taking the time to read this email and I hope that you consider the detrimental impact this would
have on many people should the licence be removed from Tagg.

If you would like any further information from myself please don’t hesitate to contact me on the details below.

Page 190



 

  

 

 

 

11th January 2021 

 

Dear Sir or Madam 

 

My name is , and I am the Designated Premises Supervisor for the  in 

Loughborough and have been since April 2014. I have known and worked with Tijani Yesufu (TJ) 

since I took up my post. When I took my post TJ had already been operating in Loughborough as a 

promoter for a number of years. TJ was well known and was highly regarded by both his customers, 

other venues, Loughborough University and all the authorities in the area. We immediately started 

to work together. I also sit on the committee of our local Pub Watch and have done so since 2014 

and only ever good things have been said about his events. 

 

TJ has hoisted and promoted a large number of events at my venue since my appointment, one of 

them being a weekly event. All of his events have been safe, structured and well run. TJ already has a 

good understanding of the licensing objectives and what is required of him and he always takes due 

care and attention when promoting and organising his events. We have had no issues with any of 

the local authorities regarding a single of the events he has ran at our venue.  

 

TJ is professional, knowledgably (he always keeps himself up to date with the industry), organised 

and hard working and only surrounds himself with similar sorts of people. 

 

If you require any further information, please do not hesitate to contact me at any time. 

 

Regards 

 

 

 

Page 191



From:
To: Edward Smith
Subject: TJ Yesufu Character Reference
Date: 11 January 2021 11:46:53

To whom it may concern

As the owner of multiple venues in Loughborough from the year 2009 I employed TJ
Yesufu as bar staff and used his sevices as a promoter of events.

I found TJ to be a pleasure to work with in both capacities. 

He was punctual and reliable and showed a passion for events even from his early days. 

His communication was excellent and I found him to go far in excess of the norm to ensure
success and safety at his events ranging from measures such as employing extra security
and first aid staff on site to liasing successfully with the authorities and the police to make
sure everyone knew when his events were, what the likely turnout would be and providing
valid risk assessments for any such said events.

As I write this TJ is vastly more experienced in running events and I would not hesitate to
use TJs services again.

Kindest regards

Page 192



Page 193



From:
To: Entertainment Licensing
Subject: Taag Review
Date: 16 January 2021 14:08:00
Attachments: Outlook-Leeds Beck.png

Outlook-Leeds Beck.png

To whom this may concern,

Many name is  and I am a lecturer and performance nutrition consultant
at Leeds Beckett University and Huddersfield Town football club, respectively. I have
become aware of the pending license review at Taag. I feel strongly that this is not a fair
evaluation of the service I have received on my numerous visits to the premise.  

Every time I have visited Taag with my family or my friends they have strictly enforced
Covid-19 safety protocols. Upon booking our table reservation we were informed of the
new rules and regulations, which would help keep us safe during our visit. This included
hand sanitisation upon arrival and wearing masks at all times, apart from when we were
enjoying the food and drinks menu. We have always been placed on socially distanced
tables, which we were required to sit at throughout the entire booking. This included
friendly waiter and waitress service, who took our drinks and food orders as required and
helped prevent the typical queuing at bars I have observed at other venues. The tables had
several small hand sanitizers that we could use throughout our stay. Music was played at an
enjoyable level, allowing us to appreciate our meal and drinks, although without
encouraging people to stand up, dance or mingle inappropriately. 

Due to nature of my work, I would not have attended Taag or returned if I felt this would
place my family or friends, my work colleagues or myself at undue risk. At the University and
club, we also enforce the latest Covid-19 guidance. Both organisations have been
commended on the standard of safety they can offer to their employees and clientele.
Moreover, as a performance nutritionist I am acutely aware of the standards required to
ensure safe dining in line with Covid-19 regulations. Based on this understanding, I can
confirm that Taag has been able to offer the service I expect from a public venue with
regards to individual's safety. 

To finish, I would like to highlight the important impact safe dining can have on people's
mental health and wellbeing during repeated lockdowns. Taag is such a venue, offering
individuals a chance to safely leave their home, enjoy good food and drink and see friends. I
highly appreciated the procedures in place for venues to follow. However, the last 10
months has placed an unprecedented burden on everyone. Compassion is required to
ensure we all survive and beat Covid-19 together. Therefore, I would be very disappointed
to see Taag delivered an unfair review based on the service I have received.

Many thanks for your time and consideration,

 

Page 194



Page 195



From:
Entertainment Licensing

Subject: Taag Review
Date: 16 January 2021 13:44:38

To whom it may concern. I have visited Taag several times in the past year and I was very impressed by how
strictly they adhered to covid 19 safety standards.

This made me and the company I was with feel very safe and well looked after amidst a pandemic. The booking
system was very strict and social distancing was in place at all times.

Hand sanitisers were available on every table and a queue system was in effect if you had to leave your table for
any reason eg.  going to the toilet all in the name of maintaining social distancing

The whole place ran on a one way system which meant that even when going to the toilet or outside the venue
you were socially distanced from other customers. Everything was brought to your table in a no contact manner
which made me feel extremely safe in this environment.

Face masks were worn at all times except when sat on your table eating and you were not allowed to leave your
table under any circumstances without a face mask unless you were exempt of course.

I was pleasantly surprised by how they managed to adhere to safety measures and still created a social
atmosphere that my company and I felt safe in. This  was a very important factor for me as I am a front line
worker and it is paramount that there is a venue that maintains safe practice which in turn enables me to protect
my patients and not put them at risk.

I look forward to visiting taag again and I hope they can continue to practice the exceptional safety standards I
witnessed

Kind regards

Page 196



From:
Entertainment Licensing

Subject: TAAG Leeds licence review
Date: 17 January 2021 16:36:06

To whom it may concern, 

It has been brought to my attention that the venue 'TAAG' on Great George Street in
Leeds, is having its license reviewed due to a potential breach in COVID restrictions,
therefore; I am writing this email to hopefully provide some clarity regarding TAAG's
COVID procedures.

I visited TAAG around the middle of July 2020, when restaurants were allowed to re-open
and we were allowed to travel once more. Upon my visit to TAAG, what was evident was
the seriousness in which the staff were taking the re-opening of the premises, including
the enforcement of the COVID rules. The expectations of the visiting customers were
made clear by management and employees, with sanitizing stations, and reminders of the
expectations set around the restaurant, including social distancing with other parties.

As a professional within education, I understand the difficult task of enforcing COVID rules
all too well. I could not fault the staff at TAAG for their handling of business during times in
which businesses have had to continuously adapt and overcome. 

Even with these new restrictions in place and evidently higher workloads for all of the staff
at TAAG, the atmosphere was made to feel very welcoming and I thoroughly enjoyed my
afternoon at the venue. 

I hope this email provides some transparency. 

Yours faithfully, 

 

Page 197



From:
Entertainment Licensing

Subject: Fwd: Taag review
Date: 16 January 2021 15:26:16

To whom this may concern,

I have seen that the notice that TAAG is up for a license review and would really like the opportunity to just say
how great of a place it is. A place where people go to enjoy their time, have fun and love life again - all whilst
being in a safe, controlled environment. If you have never been, let me tell you. The atmosphere is electric and
there isn’t one gloomy face on any table.

I have never once been in taag since the whole pandemic started and felt uneasy or like rules weren’t being
stuck to.

The first time I had a table since it all started I thought how cleverly they had prepped it. Balloons attached to
hand sanitisers on the table - super cute touch, you never lost the hand sani all night! A one up one down system
for the toilet. Controlled serving of tables and never once did any of my group feel that they needed to leave the
table for anything because Taag mastered covid rules to ensure safety, but with out making you feel awkward or
uncomfortable.

Still having Taag to go to when we we’re allowed out for that small time in 2020, became mine and my friends
happy place. The affect these lock downs are having on our favourite bars / restaurants and businesses having to
close is scary and impactful on so many more than just the bar owners and staff. It affects the public too.

Being a a key worker in this pandemic and changing our factory lines to supply hand sanitisers globally to help
fight this virus. I know first hand the affect this is having on everyone and never would I or my friends be in an
environment where we felt at risk.

Taag is a place where people go to feel good, to diminish the affects they might be feeling mentally. And for
these places who have taken a hit having to close their doors, to now possibly never re opening again doesn’t
bare to think about what back lash the public might feel when this is over, not having their well loved, trusted
places to go back to. 

I so wish to see Taag open its doors again for not just me and my friends. But for the rest of the faces they put
so many smiles on.

Many thanks and warm wishes in this gruesome world we live in right now.

Page 198



From:
To: Entertainment Licensing
Subject: Taag Licence Review
Date: 17 January 2021 17:01:27

To whom it may concern, 

I hope this e-mail reaches you well in these challenging and uncertain times. I am emailing
with regards to the pending licence review on Taag in Leeds that I have been made aware
of over this last week.

Taag is a venue I have frequently attended and there are several reasons as to why this is
somewhere that I continue to attend as a young professional. During my most recent visit
to Taag, when venues were permitted to be open, it was evident that all staff were aware
of the most recent guidelines with regards to public safety and enforced these rigorously.
On entry I was informed of the rules and told; I must wear a mask when walking through
the venue, I had to remain seated at all times and dancing was not permitted, it was purely
table service and I could only leave my seat to go to the toilet or when leaving the
premises. The emphasis put on safety made me feel comfortable and at ease for the
duration of my visit, I have never felt that my safety has been comprised, or that I have
been exposed to the virus. Public safety and following all coronavirus rules felt paramount
to all the staff at Taag. 

As both a and a  at a primary school in Leeds it is imperative I
uphold professional ethics in accordance with the teacher standards, a legal document. As
stated in the teacher standards, part 2 professional and personal conduct: 'teachers
uphold public trust in the profession and maintain high standards of ethics and behaviour,
within and outside school by not undermining fundamental British values, including
democracy and the rule of law'. Therefore, attending a venue where I knew the law was
not implemented or adhered to by all in management would unquestionably be
detrimental to my career. 

Taag is an entertaining and enjoyable venue with an energetic atmosphere where the
public can go to socialise in a safe and respectable manner.  It is clear that a night
socialising at Taag will have copious amounts of positive benefits to those attending,
however I would like to draw attention to one in particular, mental health. It is of no doubt
that mental health has been significantly impacted on in the last year with The Mental
Health Foundation reporting that 'the proportion of young people age 18-24 reporting suicidal
thoughts or feelings, at 22%, was more than double that of the population as a whole, at 10%.'. (The
rest of this report can be found by following this
link: https://www.mentalhealth.org.uk/coronavirus/divergence-mental-health-experiences-
during-pandemic) Being able to socialise in a safe, controlled but still lively atmosphere will
help ease a lot of young people's mental health, something that undoubtedly Taag was
able to offer. Speaking from personal experience for all the times I have attended I left
Taag feeling happier and less anxious than when I arrived, purely due to being able to

Page 199



Page 200



From:
To: Entertainment Licensing
Subject: Taag license review
Date: 16 January 2021 11:07:44

To whom it may concern,

I am writing in regards to Taag’s licence review.

I have taken over  in September 2019. I was introduced to the owners of Taag, our
next door neighbours on my first day of handover from the previous owner Margret Spencer who highly
recommend Taag to me.

Taag as a company have always gone above and beyond for myself and my company taking in parcels and
looking out for me as a neighbour. Every time I have been into Taag as a customer, or a neighbour collecting
my post it’s always a nice good crowd and atmosphere whilst being very controlled. Which is nice to see a
business doing well during such an awful time for all business owners. The staff have always been very
professional and polite.

As a customer who has been to Taag for multiple lunches and bottomless brunch the Covid-19 rules were
evident and explained to myself before entering the premises by a polite staff member. I am personally classed
as high risk and the rules Taag had in place made me feel safe and comfortable and allowed me to still have a
social life with my family. For example, we were asked to wear a mask, multiple signs are outside and around
the building over Covid-19 measures. We were also asked for no dancing and they had a professional toilet
system which was staffed to make sure this was also Covid-19 safe which I’ve noticed most places don’t have!

I personally struggled during lockdown and it was nice to see the positive affect safe hospitality businesses have
on people. Going to Taag has a lovely atmosphere whilst obeying to the rules which can be of benefit to people
mentally as I know it certainly did for myself.

As Taag are brunch based. They bring a lot of female customers to the area where there usually wouldn’t be
many people walking by which has helped us a company.

I have never had any issues or worries about Taag being next door I have had numerous VIP clients who I have
booked into Taag as recommendation after their appointment with myself.

Below are my contact details. Please don’t hesitate to contact me if needed.

Sincerely,

Page 201



From:
To: Entertainment Licensing
Cc:
Subject: Tagg License Review
Date: 16 January 2021 12:26:40

It has recently come to my attention that tag license is under review, I wanted to write this email I support of the
establishment.

As a pharmacist I have had a part to play in the pandemic and having implemented covid-19 safety operating
procedures with in a healthcare setting I strongly believe that it is important everyone plays their part and keeps
everyone safe.

In my experience when I have attended the venue tagg, I have found that public safety was at the heart of the
venues operating procedures. They ensured that tables were socially distanced and the rules and guidelines were
clearly explained on a arrival which felt reassuring given the rate of spread. Rules such as face masks were
explained, one way systems and social distance was very well implemented. We had it explained to us to remain
seated at our tables and that dancing was not permitted as this increase the risk of transmission.

I feel like the institution should not be punished for things that may happen out of the control of a venue, even
within a healthcare setting we try our best to deliver these messages but there are still some individual who
minimise the seriousness for the need to follow the rules, however even in these isolated situations where others
in the venue chose to not follow the rules I feel as though the safety of the majority was still a priority for the
tagg management team and staff. Any individuals who didn’t follow the rules were dealt with in a safe efficient
manner as to not put anyone else at risk.

Given that I attended the venue on a few occasions I felt the way I had seen the measures put in place, made me
feel safe. This was important as due to the lack of sociability in the previous lockdowns, tagg become a covid
secure outlet where I felt the public could enjoy a safe level of normality in a controlled covid safe environment
which I think is an important thing for the mental health of the young people of Leeds  to have given the the
sudden drastic change we have experienced in our social lifestyles. 

Given the circumstances I feel the business had done well to follow the government guidelines and become a
covid safe establishment. That is is why I felt safe to return to the venue on multiple occasions.

Thanks,

Page 202



From:
To: Entertainment Licensing
Subject: TAAG Leeds
Date: 17 January 2021 23:17:23

To whom it may concern, 

It has come to my attention that TAAG Leeds has a pending Licence Review and that is the
reason in which I am writing to you. I am not only a member of the public but also a nurse
who works in Leeds general infirmary. My colleagues and I have attended this venue on
numerous occasions in the past, for examples birthday celebrations, after work drinks and
evenings out.  Below you will find many pf the positives aspects and reason as to why I
have always felt comfortable in attending Taag Leeds.
 
  

·      Prior to the covid 19 Pandemic, I always felt comfortable in attending this
venue, as I felt that the safety of myself and my colleagues was very important to
the staff working in Taag.  The staff would kindly ensure that the booked a taxi for
us If we requested by a reputable company which I believe that they also used for
their own staff. This is something which I felt put this venue above many in Leeds
 
·      During Covid 19 I was amazed at how tight the staff were on around hand
hygiene and safety of wearing masks. There was one occasions where I noted a
member of the public wishing to enter the venue however, there were not only not
wearing a mask, but they did not have one with them. The staff politely informed
the individual of their policy and kindly gave the person a mask so that they could
enter rather than turn them away
 
 
·      During the times which I had had attended the bar I observed the staff politely
informing their customers of the social distancing rule. They were quick to
integrate waitress service to tables to reduce the rules of this being abused, once
again ensuring the safety not only their customers but also their staff.
 
·      Plastic disposable cups were seen to be used and tables and seats were seen to
be cleaned upon new customers being seated once others had left
 
·      I noted that there was a staff member allocated into going into the male and
female toilets to clean them following the attendance of each individual
 

 
·      I feel that the venue went above and beyond the health and safety of their
customers and staff.
 
·      I am a mental health nurse and feel that being able to attend Taag after a very

Page 203



stressful day at work helped me unwind.  This is most definitely not a venue which
either my colleagues would have attended if we felt that our safety was being
jeopardised. Because of the job which we do we were always mindful about health
and hygiene when attending places like Taag as we had to ensure not only our
safety but that of our loved ones and the patients whom we come into contact
with.
 
·      Even  though the venue had put numerous safety measures in place to ensure
the safety and wellbeing of each individual who entered I observed a place where
people of all ages felt safe in getting together and creating good memories, a place
where to some extent they could put the pandemic to the back of their minds and
create good memories especially during a time which is filled with so much
uncertainty and worry.

 
I hope in the future when my colleagues and I have worked tirelessly through this
pandemic that we can return back to some form of normality and once again attend Taag
Leeds  where we can celebrate all the hard work which we and lots of other people have
been challenged with during Covid 19. Pandemic.
 
 
yours sincerely 

Page 204



Page 205



From:
To: Entertainment Licensing
Subject: Taag licence review
Date: 16 January 2021 15:25:08

To whom it may concern, 

I have been made aware of a pending licence review on Taag Leeds and I am writing to
whom it may concern as a member of the public who attended the establishment in July
with my personal statement. 

With rules constantly changing and working with colleagues who project managed the
Eat Out to Help Out scheme in order to support local businesses I was keen to try and
obtain some sort of normality, ensuring my own safety along with others was not put at
risk. Therefore when the government announced that bars and restaurants could open if
serving food, I booked Taag. This was booked in advance rather than turning up after
reading that they were taking all precautions seriously and had put hygiene regulations in
place. 

Prior to the pandemic worsening as a civil servant working in the city, I had been
advised to work from home since February to reduce travelling and contact with others
in the office. As you can imagine sharing an apartment with my friend who was also
working from home and sharing living space meant I was confined to my bedroom 5
days a week, with only a daily walk allowing me out. Therefore when restrictions were
lifted slightly I wanted to be in an environment which positively affected my mental
well-being, even if it was only for a couple of hours. 

When arriving at the venue rules were evident as we were greeted and advised to sanitise
prior to entering after temperature checks were taken. We were also familiarised with the
rules, such as no dancing. It was visible that all safety markings were in place following
guidelines and people were safely spaced out within their parties. 

This being my first time out I was impressed with how responsible and efficient all staff
were whilst I was there. If I didn’t feel safe when I arriving I wouldn’t of put myself in
a situation where I felt uncomfortable or at risk. 

I actually believe if establishments are following government guidelines, as Taag was
prior to full lockdown and no-ones safety is compromised then it is beneficial for
people’s mental wellbeing. 

I would appreciate if my account was taken into consideration when making your review
and also keep in mind that people’s livelihoods and mental health is being massively
impacted as each month passes. Especially those who are not as fortunate as ourselves to
still be able to work on a day to day basis with a secure income.

Kind regards,

 

Page 206



From:
To: Edward Smith
Subject: Character Reference Tijani Yesufu
Date: 12 January 2021 00:10:20

To whom it may concern,

I write to you today with a personal reference for Tijani Yesufu. I have known Tijani since 2007 when he first
came to Loughborough to attend University and was working behind the bar of a local nightclub whilst
studying.

During his final year of study and following his graduation from Loughborough, Tijani worked as a promotor in
a variety of different Loughborough venues including Loughborough Students Union where I worked as the
Head of Venue Operations until December 2018.

As a rule Loughborough Students Union at the time did not work with many external promoters following bad
experiences with unreliable and untrustworthy ones that we had worked with previously. As an organisation that
was run by students for students as well as being a venue that was on the University Campus at Loughborough
there was an expectation and responsibility to hold licensable activities in the safest ways possible and were
held under much more scrutiny than in any other venue that I have worked at over the last 20 years. As a
Student Union we only sought to operate best practice and were advocates both locally and nationally for safe
student events.
In addition to my role at Loughborough I worked with DC  and the National Events Intelligence
Unit (formerly OpGothic) hosting a national forum at Loughborough Students Union in 2016.

Having seen Tijani operate over a number of years we were happy to work with him when he approached us to
work on some collaborative events. We found him to be very open to working with the Student body, the
University and other key stakeholders such as Charnwood Borough Council and Leicestershire Police. Tijani
would often meet with licensing representatives as part of pre event planning and post event debriefings and
proactively promoted in line with licensable objectives. One such example that comes to mind was where Tijani
paid for a bus service to transport students through an area that had been disrupted by transient noise on an
event run by a less reputable promoter. The residents of the area were thrilled that this was offered as an option
as well as the Charnwood BC and Leicestershire Police.

During my tenure at Loughborough Students Union I worked with Tijani on over 50 events over a 7 year period
as well as being witness to the two events he promoted in Loughborough town centre on a weekly basis for over
5 years.

I believe him to be one of the most responsible promoters that I have ever worked with and think that he would
make a fantastic DPS of any venue.

Regards

Page 207



Page 208



From:
To: Entertainment Licensing
Subject: Taag Leeds License Review
Date: 17 January 2021 22:37:03

To whom this may concern,

My name is .
It has been brought to my attention that the  license application for Taag is still under
review due to numerous reasons and I feel strongly that this is not a fair evaluation of
the service provided.  

I have visited Taag with my family and friends a handful of times and believe they
have strictly enforced Covid-19 safety protocols. 
Upon booking our table reservation we were informed of the new rules and
regulations, which would help keep us safe during our visit. This included hand
sanitisation upon arrival and wearing masks at all times, apart from when we were sat
enjoying the food and drinks.

All tables were socially distanced, which we were required to sit at throughout our
stay.
Waiting staff would take our drinks and food orders as required which helped prevent
queuing at the bar.
The tables had several small hand sanitizers that we could use throughout our stay. 
Music was played at an enjoyable level, allowing us to appreciate our meal and
drinks, although without encouraging people to stand up, dance or intermix
inappropriately. 

I work for the NHS and understand the importance of following Covid-19 guidance
and keeping safe during these difficult times.
I certainly would not have attended Taag or returned if I felt this would place my
family, friends or myself at undue risk. 

Taag offers individuals a chance to safely leave their home, enjoy great food/drink
and see friends and I truly believe this is crucial for people's mental health and
wellbeing during repeated lockdowns.

On the grounds of the above I would be extremely disappointed to see Taag delivered
an unfair review based on the service I have received, which has been nothing but
great. 

Many thanks for your time and consideration,

 

Page 209



 
 
 
  
 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 

 

Dear Edward Smith, 

Please take this letter as reference to the character of TJ Yesufu. I am the  at 
 and have known TJ in a professional capacity since March 2015, when I 

began my . For approximately 2 years I 
worked closely with TJ as the manager on duty during the student event which he would host each 
week. This involved interacting directly with him and also being witness to his interactions with 
others over multiple late night events. In June 2017, when I became the license holder and GM, our 
relationship expanded to include the meetings and planning required to deliver ongoing student 
events throughout the year. It would be reasonable to assume that we have worked together to 
safely deliver over 300 separate events in a 5 year period up until March 2020.  

As a promoter, TJ is and has been ‘the face’ of Revolution Loughborough for students for many 
years, including those previous to my employment. He has worked with 3 managers previously to 
myself that I know personally and who have all spoken highly of him. As a promoter, it is common to 
only be in a venue for a year or two and I believe TJs extended career is a reflection of his work ethic 
and impeccable reputation within Loughborough. The expectation of him, as it would be with 
anyone representing Revolution, has always been to uphold the values of the company and had their 
been any incident that put this into question, I would have actioned this without question to ensure 
the businesses’ continued success in a small student town. I have certainly never known him to be 
aggressive or violent or have any associations with crime or persons related to crime. Indeed, the 
opposite is true – he is warm natured and earns the respect of those around him. 

In conclusion, I have come to know TJ as a shrewd individual who is extremely considered in both his 
thoughts and actions. He has earned an excellent reputation for being professional in any and all 
situations, always acting with integrity. It is my belief that he has the qualities necessary to 
responsibly run a venue in accordance with licensing objectives.  

If you require any more information or would like to discuss this with me further then please do not 
hesitate to contact me. Please note that I am currently furloughed in my role but am happy to assist 
in whatever way that I can.  

Yours Sincerely, 

Page 210



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 211



Page 212



From:
To: Entertainment Licensing
Subject: TAAG Licensing Review
Date: 18 January 2021 17:47:13

To whom it may concern,

I have been recently been made aware of a pending license review on the venue ‘’Taag’’ in Leeds. I would like
to give my personal thoughts on the venue and the positives that the site brings to the city of Leeds and its
people.

I have attended Taag on numerous occasions over the past year or so, whether it be for a quick coffee, client
lunches during the week or socialising with friends at the weekend. At all times, the venue has provided
professionalism regarding service as well as the standard of food and
beverage. However, the main focal point which Taag provides, is a great atmosphere.

I understand the license review has been put in place recently because of the past 6 months, so I will not focus
too much on the venue pre-summer 2020. Nonetheless, I still think it is important to highlight the positives
before, to show the council what Taag brings to Leeds as a whole.

For me, I find it very hard to find a venue that caters in so many ways, to such a high standard. As stated earlier,
I attend Taag for a morning coffee, to take clients out for meetings there and socialise at the weekend with
friends. A lot of what the public will see is Taag being to go-to place for food & drink at the weekend for their
popular bottomless brunches, however I think for the professionals such as myself that religiously used this as a
place to have meetings, lunches and a quick stop for a coffee, it offers me something that no other venue in the
city centre does.

With the whole pandemic consuming the world, with new rules in place on a regular basis, I must commend
Taag for implementing these rules in their venue from the get-go. They have removed a certain number of
tables in addition to taping off some booths to adhere to social distancing. Hand sanitiser is available on every
table, as well as a large sanitiser dispenser to the fore of the bar which is immediately in front of you as soon as
you walk through the door.

While attending on the weekends, with every weekend being close to full, showing how popular the venue is, it
still brings a great atmosphere even with a large number of seats removed. With constant reminders by the staff
and security to always wear your mask when not sat at your table, to not sit on any other attendee’s tables, and
as hard as it is, to not stand up to dance. These are not just told before entering the venue by security or by Front
of House, these are relayed to everyone inside the venue by all members of staff. It is clear that the manager on
shift has drummed this into staff in a meeting before opening the doors to the public, with a deadly virus
engrossing the country, it is a great thing to see.

I attended Taag for my birthday in August. A big birthday, a quarter century. So of course, I wanted every
friend and family there, however Taag were strict with the head count and once again stuck to the law allowing
myself & 5 others on my booking. We were instructed to sanitise our hands before we were seated. Once sat
down, the waitress explained all the rules regarding social distancing, no mixing of tables, no dancing standing
up & not to go to the bar for any drinks. We were only allowed to leave the table to go the toilet or outside for a
smoke. It was a fantastic day and enjoyed by all, not just my friends and I, but by looking around it was clear
everyone was having a great day.

On a later visit to Taag, it was no mask – no entry. One of my friends had forgotten his mask, but thankfully
Taag had a box of the disposable 3 ply masks and handed one to him. There was not a moment where I felt that
rules were not being adhered to or that there was a lack of enforcement of rules by the staff or security. I
genuinely felt safer in Taag than when I do my weekly food shop in the supermarkets where people are walking
in any direction, mask-less or not maintaining social distancing. However, I see no rules being enforced in any
supermarket nor a license review.

It would be a great shame for Taag to have its doors closed indefinitely, and I can assure you that I am not the
only one who will feel the affects of this venue closing. Not just for the midweek attendances and ease of it, but
mainly the weekend goers looking forward to going to one of Leeds’ most popular venues, which is key for

Page 213



many people's mental health. Having something to look forward to when the lockdown is eased and the
hospitality industry can open their doors once again, is vital for the people in and around Leeds to be able to see
light at the end of the tunnel over the gruelling past 12 months.

I hope you take into consideration all the benefits that Taag has to offer for the city and allow them to open their
doors when the government give bars and restaurants the green light.

Kind Regards,

Page 214



Appendix H

Page 215



Page 76Page 216



Page 217



Page 218


	Agenda
	6 Review of the Premises Licence for Taag, Unit 2B, St George House, 40 Great George Street, Leeds, LS1 3DL
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C
	Appendix D
	redacted Mr Yesufu.pdf
	redacted Mr Taggobhi

	Appendix E
	Appendix F
	Appendix G
	Appendix H




